The use of bedaquiline in the treatment of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis

Interim policy guidance



This guidance was developed in compliance with the process for evidence gathering, assessment and formulation of recommendations, as outlined in the WHO Handbook for Guideline Development on, 2012 available at http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/75146/1/9789241548441_eng.pdf.

WHO Library Cataloguing-in-Publication Data

The use of bedaquiline in the treatment of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis: interim policy guidance.

1.Bedaquiline. 2.Antitubercular agents – administration and dosage. 3.Tuberculosis, Multidrug-Resistant – drug therapy. 4.Treatment outcome. 5.Guideline. I.World Health Organization.

ISBN 978 92 4 150548 2 (NLM classification: WF 360)

© World Health Organization 2013

All rights reserved. Publications of the World Health Organization are available on the WHO web site (www.who.int) or can be purchased from WHO Press, World Health Organization, 20 Avenue Appia, 1211 Geneva 27, Switzerland (tel.: +41 22 791 3264; fax: +41 22 791 4857; e-mail: bookorders@who.int).

Requests for permission to reproduce or translate WHO publications –whether for sale or for non-commercial distribution– should be addressed to WHO Press through the WHO web site (www.who.int/about/licensing/copyright_form/en/index.html).

The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the World Health Organization concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by the World Health Organization in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by the World Health Organization to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall the World Health Organization be liable for damages arising from its use.

Printed by the WHO Document Production Services, Geneva, Switzerland

WHO/HTM/TB/2013.6

Editing and design by Inís Communication - www.iniscommunication.com

The use of bedaquiline in the treatment of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis

Interim policy guidance



Contents

Supporting internet materials
Acknowledgements
Executive summary
List of abbreviations
1. Background
2. Guidance purpose and target audience
3. Guidance development process
4. Evidence base for policy formulation
5. Expert Group recommendations
6. WHO Interim policy recommendations
7. Dissemination and implementation
Annexes
Annex 1: WHO Guideline Steering Group members
Annex 2: Expert Group members
Annex 3: Expert Group meeting objectives and agenda
Annex 4: Declarations of Interest
Annex 5: Glossary of GRADE terms
Annex 6: External Review Panel members

List of Tables

Table 1. Summary of evidence for the efficacy of bedaquiline in the treatment of MDR-TB22
Table 2. Summary of adverse events of interest 23
Table 3. QT prolongation during treatment as reflected by worst QTcF 24
Table 4. Investigator-reported hepatic events 24
Table 5. Trial C208 Stage 2: Causes of death. 25
Table 6. Anti-tuberculosis agents for treatment of drug-susceptible and drug-resistant tuberculosis 27
Table 7. The GRADE evidence profile summary 34
Table 8. The GRADE Evidence to Recommendation 36

Supporting internet materials

- Expert Group Meeting report, including PICO question;
- The contribution of bedaquiline to the treatment of MDR-TB synthesis of publicly available evidence, Bernard Fourie, South Africa;
- *Evaluation of sputum culture conversion as a surrogate marker of MDR-TB treatment outcome*, Ekaterina Kurbatova et al, CDC, Atlanta, GA, United States;
- *Cost-effectiveness of introducing bedaquiline in MDR-TB regimens an exploratory analysis*, Anna Vassall, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London, United Kingdom.

Available here: http://www.who.int/tb/challenges/mdr/bedaquiline/en/index.html



Acknowledgements

This document was prepared by Christian Lienhardt, Karin Weyer, Dennis Falzon, Fraser Wares, Ernesto Jaramillo, Diana Weil and Mario Raviglione (World Health Organization (WHO), Stop TB Department) on the basis of consensus at an international Expert Group meeting convened by WHO in Geneva, Switzerland on 29–30 January 2013.

WHO gratefully acknowledges the contributions of the Chair of the Expert Group (Holger Schünemann), and its members (Elie Akl, Adekunle V. Babawele, Mauricio Baretto, Martien W. Borgdorff, Erlina Borhan, Richard E. Chaisson, Lucy Chesire, Erica Lessem, Norbert Ndjeka, Viet Nhung Nguyen, Joshua Obasanya, Michael L. Rich, Simon Schaaf, Francis Varaine, Andrew Vernon, Susanne van Den Hof and Piret Viiklepp) who jointly developed the recommendations, and the contributions from the technical resource consultants (Bernard Fourie, Ekaterina Kurbatova, Charles Peloquin and Anna Vassall).

WHO also acknowledges the contributions of the members of the External Review Panel (Jose A. Caminero, Gavin Churchyard, Anna Marie Celina Garfin, Giovanni Battista Migliori, Ashok Kumar, Helen McIlleron, Richard Menzies, Rohit Sarin, Alena Skrahina, Maarten van Cleeff). In addition, WHO acknowledges the specialized input from HIV experts Kelly Dooley, Diane Havlir and Gary Maartens, on concomitant use of bedaquiline and antiretroviral drugs.

This document was finalized following consideration of all comments and suggestions from the participants of the Expert Group and the External Review Panel. Technical editing was completed by Tim France, Inis Communication.

The United States Agency for International Development (USAID) is acknowledged for its support to the development of these guidelines through a USAID-WHO Consolidated Grant (project number: US 2012 0392). The US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention is acknowledged for its contributive work on the use of sputum culture conversion as a surrogate marker of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis (MDR-TB) treatment outcome (carried out by Ekaterina Kurbatova and colleagues).

Declarations of interest

All Expert Group (EG) members, technical resource consultants and members of the External Review Panel completed Declaration of Interest (DOI) forms. These were reviewed by the WHO Legal Department prior to the EG meeting and preparation of the current *Interim Policy Guidance*.

Two EG members (Erica Lessem and Andrew Vernon) declared receiving support from pharmaceutical companies for work not related to the present guidance. These declarations were deemed to be insignificant. The other members of the EG, as well as the technical resource consultants and the members of the External Review Panel, declared no interest.

Executive summary

Background

The emergence of drug resistance is a major threat to global tuberculosis (TB) care and control. The World Health Organization (WHO) estimates that up to half a million new cases of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis (MDR-TB) cases (i.e. resistant to, at least, rifampicin and isoniazid) occur each year globally. Current treatment regimens for MDR-TB are far from satisfactory: the overall duration is 20 months or more, requiring daily administration of drugs that are more toxic and less effective than those used to treat drug-susceptible TB, and have a high cost. Among MDR-TB patients started on treatment globally in 2009, only 48% were treated successfully, largely as a result of a high frequency of patient deaths (15%) and loss to follow-up (28%), which is commonly associated with adverse drug reactions, among other factors. In a subset of 200 extensively drug-resistant tuberculosis (XDR-TB) patients in 14 countries, treatment success reached only 33% overall and 26% of the patients died. New drugs that would help build a better, safer, less toxic, shorter and cheaper regimen are therefore urgently needed to reduce patient suffering and mortality.

The landscape of TB drug development has evolved dramatically over the past ten years, and novel drugs are entering Phase III trials for the treatment of MDR-TB. Among these, a new drug, bedaquiline, has recently (December 2012) been granted accelerated approval by the United States Food and Drug Administration (US-FDA) based on Phase IIb data. Similar submissions are currently being made to other national regulatory authorities worldwide. WHO Member States have requested the organization to provide interim policy guidance on the use of bedaquiline as part of the treatment of MDR-TB.

It is acknowledged that developing interim guidance on the use of a new TB drug on the basis of Phase IIb trial data is a novel step for WHO. Issuing interim guidance carries with it the responsibility of ensuring that it provides specific recommendations on the conditions for the use of the drug that reflect the limited data currently available. It will also be necessary for WHO to review, revise and/or update the interim guidance as additional substantive data on efficacy and safety become available. Acceleration of Phase III trials and completion at the earliest opportunity is imperative, as is timely analysis of emerging operational data on the use of the drug. It should also be noted that, in the absence of interim guidance from WHO, uncontrolled and potentially irresponsible use of the drug may adversely affect TB care and control efforts overall – potentially prompting the emergence of bedaquiline resistance and the possible loss of the first new TB chemotherapeutic drug in over 40 years.

Objectives, rationale and methods used to develop the guidance

This document provides interim guidance for the use of bedaquiline in conjunction with other WHO-recommended MDR-TB treatments. It also specifies the essential treatment and management conditions for the use of this drug. The main audiences are national TB control programmes (NTP), other public health agencies, and other public and private partners involved in planning, implementing and monitoring MDR-TB control activities. The principles and recommendations are also relevant for specialist clinicians, technical advisors, laboratory technicians, drug procurement managers, other service providers, other relevant government officials, and implementing partners involved in country-level MDR-TB service strengthening. Individuals responsible for programme planning, budgeting, resource mobilization, and training activities for MDR-TB diagnostic services may also benefit from this guidance.

An Expert Group (EG) was convened by the WHO/Stop TB Department in Geneva, Switzerland from 29th to 30th January 2013 to assess all available data on bedaquiline, and with a view to issuing interim policy recommendations on its use, as appropriate. Since efficacy and safety data available for this drug, used for the treatment of MDR-TB, are results from Phase IIb studies only (i.e. not Phase III trials), the potential guidance could only be provisional, until further clinical trial and safety data are available.

The overall objective of the EG meeting was to evaluate the added benefit of bedaquiline for the treatment of MDR-TB and, if appropriate, to provide recommendations to WHO for interim guidance to countries on its use in conjunction with other secondline drugs used in MDR-TB treatment.

The specific objectives were:

- (1) To evaluate the efficacy and safety of bedaquiline in addition to currently WHO-recommended MDR-TB treatments.
- (2) To evaluate the balance between harms and benefits of the drug, its potential costeffectiveness, patient and provider preferences and concerns, and the feasibility of introducing the drug into MDR-TB programmes.
- (3) To provide, as appropriate, recommendations on the use of the drug as part of WHO-recommended MDR-TB treatment regimens, including attention to concerns/constraints relevant to the potential use of a new drug for which Phase III clinical trial data are not yet available.

The EG consisted of researchers, epidemiologists, end-users (clinicians and NTP officers), community representatives and experts in evidence synthesis. Declarations of Interest were managed according to WHO rules.

Publicly available data on the pre-clinical and clinical development of the drug were reviewed to assess efficacy, safety and tolerability of the drug, and complemented by modelling work to assess the potential cost-effectiveness of programmatic implementation. Issues to be addressed in future research were also discussed. In addition, data on final outcomes of the pivotal proof-of-concept Phase II trial (that had not been evaluated by the US-FDA in their accelerated regulatory assessment) were provided to WHO by the manufacturer, allowing more comprehensive review by the EG. To comply with current standards for evidence assessment in formulation of policy recommendations, the GRADE system¹ adopted by WHO for policy and guidelines development was used.

A PICO question² was pre-defined in consultation with the EG: "In MDR-TB patients, does the addition of bedaquiline to a background regimen based on WHO-recommendations safely improve patient outcomes?"

The following outcomes were selected by the EG for evaluation:

- 1. Cure by end of study 120 weeks.
- 2. Serious adverse events during investigational 24 weeks treatment phase.
- 3. Mortality.
- 4. Time to culture conversion over 24 weeks.
- 5. Culture conversion at 24 weeks.
- 6. Acquired resistance to second-line drugs (fluoroquinolones, amino-glycosides and capreomycin) at 72 weeks.

Summary of available data

Data were available from a series of studies and trials made public by the manufacturer, and supplemented with final outcome results made available to WHO. Main findings on efficacy and safety originated from two Phase IIb trials: (1) C208, a two-stage trial of which Stage 1 was an exploratory study, and Stage 2 was a multi-centre, stratified, randomized, double-blind placebo-controlled trial serving as a pivotal proof-of-efficacy study; and (2) C209, a single-arm, open label trial.

1. Evidence for the efficacy of bedaquiline in the treatment of MDR-TB

Subjects aged 18 to 65 years with newly diagnosed pulmonary MDR-TB were enrolled in the C208 Stage 2 efficacy trial from 15 sites in Brazil, India, Latvia, Peru, the Philippines, the Russian Federation, South Africa and Thailand; 160 subjects were randomized to receive bedaquiline or placebo as well as a five-drug MDR-TB background regimen (BR), which consisted of various combinations of fluoroquinolones, aminoglycosides, pyrazinamide, ethionamide, ethambutol, and/or cycloserine/terizidone. Bedaquiline was given at 400 mg daily for the first 2 weeks, followed by 200 mg three times per week for the remaining 22 weeks. After 24 weeks, subjects continued the BR of MDR-TB therapy until a treatment duration of 96 weeks was achieved. The total duration of the study was 120 weeks. An interim analysis was done at 72 weeks.

¹ GRADE: Grading of Recommendation Assessment, Development and Evaluation.

² PICO: Population, Intervention, Comparator, Outcome.

The primary efficacy endpoint for the C208 Stage 2 trial was time to sputum culture conversion in commercial liquid culture (MGIT[™] 960 Mycobacterial Detection System, Becton Dickinson Diagnostic systems, USA) during the 24-week investigational treatment period (subjects who discontinued before week 24 were considered as not having culture converted). The analysis was conducted on a 'modified' intention to treat population (mITT) of 132 subjects (66 in each of the bedaquiline and placebo groups).³

The median time to culture conversion was 83 days (95%CI: 56, 97) in the bedaquiline group versus 125 days (95%CI: 98, 168) in the placebo group. Using Cox proportional hazards model (adjusted for lung cavitation and pooled centre) there was a higher chance of faster culture conversion in the bedaquiline arm compared with the placebo arm (HR=2.44 [1.57, 3.80], p<0.0001). The proportion of subjects with culture conversion at Week 24 (secondary efficacy endpoint) was 78.8% in the bedaquiline group versus 57.6% in the placebo group (p=0.008). The percentage of responders at Week 72 (i.e. the time point attained by all Stage 2 subjects at the interim analysis) was 71.2% in the bedaquiline group versus 56.1% in the placebo group (p=0.069). Utilizing all available efficacy data up to end of study (Week 120), the percentage was 62.1% of respondents in the bedaquiline group versus 43.9% in the placebo group (p=0.035).

Efficacy was further evaluated by the EG using WHO-recommended treatment outcome definitions applied to Week 120 final data. The proportion of subjects defined as cured at 120 weeks was 57.6 % in the bedaquiline arm versus 31.8% in the placebo arm (p=0.003).

2. Evidence for the safety of bedaquiline in the treatment of MDR-TB

Information was available from pooled data from C208 Stage 1 and Stage 2 trials, with 102 subjects in the 'Any bedaquiline' group and 105 subjects in the 'Any placebo' group: 96.1% of subjects in the Any bedaquiline group and 95.2% subjects in the Any placebo group experienced at least one adverse event (AE). The most frequently reported AEs in the Any bedaquiline group (>20.0% of subjects) were nausea (35.3%), arthralgia (29.4%), headache (23.5%), hyperuricaemia (22.5%), and vomiting (20.6%). The incidence of these AEs was generally similar in the Any bedaquiline and the Any placebo groups, except for headache (in 23.5% and 11.4% of subjects, respectively), nausea (35.3% and 25.7%, respectively), and arthralgia (29.4% and 20.0%, respectively). Additional AEs were, in order of frequency: dizziness, increased transaminases, myalgia, diarrhoea and QT prolongation on electrocardiogram (ECG). There was a higher incidence of events related to hepatic disorders (mostly increases in transaminases) in the Any bedaquiline group compared to the Any placebo group. QT prolongations were observed in both the bedaquiline and placebo groups, but were more pronounced in the bedaquiline

6

³ The mITT-excluded subjects who had drug-susceptible TB, XDR- or unconfirmed MDR-TB (based on susceptibility tests taken prior to randomization), or had missing or negative baseline cultures, or who were positive at baseline, but had no post-baseline culture results.

group: more patients had $QTcF^4$ values above 450 ms (26.6% versus 8.6%) and more patients had QTcF increases >60 ms from reference values (9.1 % versus 2.5%). The use of bedaquiline with other potential QT prolonging medications (e.g. clofazimine) was found to increase the risk of prolonged QT interval.

Twelve deaths were reported from the C208 Stage 2 trial in total (i.e. irrespective of when deaths occurred). Of these, 10/79 (12.7%) came from the bedaquiline group and 2/81 (2.5%) from the placebo group (p=0.017) (intention to treat analysis). In the bedaquiline group, 8 of the 10 deaths occurred in culture converters. TB was reported to be the cause of death in the two placebo-arm deaths and in 5 of the 10 bedaquiline-arm deaths (all occurred off bedaquiline treatment). Counting deaths strictly at the 120 weeks cut-off point revealed nine in the bedaquiline and one in the placebo group. There were no discernible associations between death and culture conversion, relapse, microbiological response, susceptibility to drugs used in the BR, human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) status, or severity of TB-related disease. Despite detailed descriptive line listings of all deaths, the reasons for the imbalance in deaths between the two arms were not identified.

Expert Group findings

The EG concluded that the randomized, double-blind, design of the pivotal study was of high quality, although information on the desired sample size and on the actual randomization process was not available. The EG was, however, concerned about the use of mITT analysis (and subsequent assumptions made), as well as the representativeness of the study population. Experts were also concerned about the low cure rate at 120 weeks observed in the placebo group, when compared to those reported from recent published reviews. This could indicate that the patients included in the trial were not representative of the MDR-TB population at large and that the effects observed in the bedaquiline arm may not be reproducible under programme conditions.

Concern was also expressed that, in the absence of patient data on drug susceptibility test status in the different arms, the BR used in various sites of the trial may not have been compliant with WHO recommendations. There was further concern on the generalizability of the data to the target patient group (e.g. a greater proportion of HIV co-infected TB cases occurred in the placebo arm; XDR-TB patients were excluded). Lastly, there was concern on the generalizability of study findings to all populations and to all regions in the world. The overall quality of evidence for efficacy was therefore graded as "Low", i.e. the EG had low confidence in the estimate of effect (or efficacy) of bedaquiline.

The EG expressed concern on the risk of QT prolongation and the additive effect in combination with other MDR-TB drugs reported to prolong QT. The EG also expressed concerns regarding co-morbidities (notably HIV infection and liver diseases), and the

⁴ QTcF: QT interval corrected for heart rate according to the Fridericia method.

effects of alcohol or substance use on the risk of severe adverse events. The evidence for safety as reflected by AEs was therefore graded as "Very low".

The EG was highly concerned with the observed difference in mortality between the bedaquiline and placebo arms in the C208 stage 2 trial. No clear pattern could be observed, and reason(s) for the imbalance were unclear. The quality of evidence for mortality as a measure of safety was therefore graded as "Very low".

Lastly, the EG had concerns about the available data on emergence of resistance, due to a high risk of bias, as serial drug susceptibility data on patient strains were not provided (i.e. at enrolment and during follow-up). The quality of evidence for acquisition of resistance to fluoroquinolones, aminoglycosides or capreomycin was, therefore, graded as "Very low".

Modelling of the incremental cost-effectiveness of adding bedaquiline to WHOrecommended MDR-TB regimens was conducted by an independent consultant contracted by WHO for review by the EG. The model assumed that bedaquiline would be added to treatments for all patients starting MDR-TB treatment. Data from WHO were available on current MDR-TB treatment costs (excluding programme costs) and effectiveness in several high TB burden settings. Several scenarios were explored to appraise the cost-effectiveness of bedaquiline in these settings. Under the model assumptions, the bedaquiline-containing regimens were assessed as relatively costeffective in most settings, but results were ambiguous in low-income settings and highly dependent on the assumptions made about the generalizability of trial results to routine settings. The EG noted that further analysis would be needed to test the robustness of the assumptions in various settings and to separately assess affordability. As the recommendation of the EG was to use bedaquiline only for selected sub-groups of the full MDR-TB patient population, as opposed to all patients with MDR-TB that were considered in the cost-effectiveness analysis, the cost-effectiveness model needs to be further refined such that results are available for these sub-groups specifically.

The final grading of evidence for the use of bedaquiline in MDR-TB treatment was "Very low". There was modest agreement among the EG that the quality of evidence for possible benefits was "Low" due to imprecision and indirectness, and high agreement that the quality of evidence for possible harms was "Very low" due to imprecision, indirectness and risk of bias. The EG could not reach consensus, however, on the overall balance of harms and benefits and proceeded to a vote (observers and technical resources consultants were excluded). The results were as follows: 10 votes that benefits outweighed harms; 4 votes that harms outweighed benefits; and 2 abstentions (including the chair).

Expert Group recommendations

The EG suggested that, as an interim recommendation, bedaquiline may be added to a WHO-recommended regimen in adult MDR-TB patients under the following conditions (conditional recommendation, very low confidence in estimates of effect, i.e. very low quality of evidence):

- when an effective treatment regimen containing four second-line drugs in addition to pyrazinamide according to WHO recommendations cannot be designed;
- when there is documented evidence of resistance to any fluoroquinolone in addition to multidrug resistance.

In addition, the EG recommended that:

- a duly informed decision-making process by patients should be followed;
- bedaquiline be used with caution in people living with HIV, as well as in patients with co-morbidities (e.g. diabetes) or people reporting alcohol or substance use, due to limited or no information;
- bedaquiline be used for a maximum duration of 6 months and at suggested dosing (400 mg daily for the first 2 weeks, followed by 200 mg three times per week for the remaining 22 weeks);
- bedaquiline must not be added alone to a failing regimen;
- baseline testing and monitoring for QT prolongation and development of arrhythmia is imperative;
- clinical monitoring and management of co-morbidities (especially cardiac and liver disease) should be in place;
- spontaneous reporting of adverse drug reactions is reinforced at country level and active pharmacovigilance is established among patient groups treated with the drug;
- in the absence of a specific drug-susceptibility test, resistance to bedaquiline should be monitored through assessment of minimum inhibitory concentrations (MICs);
- resistance to other anti-TB drugs should be monitored following WHO recommendations.

The EG also recommended that these interim recommendations be re-assessed in 2015, or earlier if additional data of significance become available that increase the knowledge on safety, toxicity and/or efficacy of bedaquiline. In addition, the EG identified a number of research topics to be addressed to inform future guidance on the use of bedaquiline.

WHO Interim policy recommendations

In view of the aforementioned evidence assessment and advice provided by the EG, WHO recommends that **bedaquiline may be added to a WHO-recommended regimen in adult patients with pulmonary MDR-TB** (conditional recommendation, very low confidence in estimates of effects). Given the limited data available on bedaquiline and its use under the various situations that may be encountered in different clinical settings, adequate provisions for safe and effective use of the drug must be in place. Consequently, countries are advised to follow a phased approach to bedaquiline

9

implementation, ideally through observational cohorts, where the following measures are in place. The WHO recommendation for the inclusion of bedaquiline in the adult treatment regimen of MDR-TB is subject to the following five conditions being met:

- 1. Treatment is administered under closely monitored conditions, adhering to best practices in treatment delivery, to enable optimal drug effectiveness and safety. Given that the results of the Phase IIb trial showed an excess mortality in the bedaquiline arm versus placebo arm, and that results of Phase III trials are only expected a few years from now, it is particularly important that the introduction of bedaquiline is carefully monitored for safety. It is therefore recommended that the following measures are in place:
 - a. Sound treatment and management protocols, including clear patient eligibility criteria, procedures for informed consent and defined roles and responsibilities of all professionals involved. The treatment protocols should allow for the prospective capture of data on key variables for both effectiveness and safety. Safety concerns are best addressed using the cohort event monitoring methodology employed for active pharmacovigilance. Electronic systems will facilitate efficient data management and generation of key indicators.
 - b. Treatment protocols are preferably submitted to and approved by the relevant national ethics authority in the country, prior to patient enrolment on treatment.
 - c. Preferably, oversight of treatment and management programmes is provided by an independent group of experts in clinical management and public health – for instance, such as a national MDR-TB advisory group.
- 2. Proper patient inclusion. The current recommendation for the use of bedaquiline applies to adults (≥18yrs) with pulmonary disease. Special caution is needed when bedaquiline is used in persons aged 65 years and older, and in adults living with HIV, as data on efficacy and safety are extremely limited. Use of the drug in pregnant women and children is not advised due to a lack of evidence on safety and efficacy. While patients with exclusive extrapulmonary disease were not included in the bedaquiline trial, the use of the drug in extrapulmonary TB patients may be considered, extrapolating from the data in patients with pulmonary TB.
- **3.** Patient informed consent obtained. Health-care providers should ensure that the patient is: (i) aware of the novel nature of bedaquiline; (ii) appreciates the reason why the drug is being proposed to be included in the regimen; and (iii) recognizes the benefits and potential harms. In addition, health-care workers should obtain the patient's agreement on the inclusion of bedaquiline in the prescribed treatment regimen. This informed consent process must be documented and signed by the patient, and applies to all situations where bedaquiline is employed, including under compassionate use programmes.
- **4.** Adherence to principles of designing a WHO-recommended MDR-TB regimen. As uncertainties remain about the relative benefits and harms when using bedaquiline, caution is advised when other options to compose an effective MDR-TB

regimen using conventional second-line medication still exist. In addition, the shortcomings of conventional drug-susceptibility testing (DST) of second line anti-TB drugs must be taken into account: DST of second-line drugs is only considered to be accurate and reproducible for fluoroquinolones, aminoglycosides (kanamycin, amikacin) and capreomycin (a polypeptide).

- a. The WHO-recommended MDR-TB treatment regimen is typically composed of at least pyrazinamide and four second-line drugs considered to be effective (based on drug susceptibility testing (DST) and/or previous use and/or drug resistance surveillance data): a fluoroquinolone (preferably later-generation), a second-line injectable agent, and two bacteriostatic drugs, preferably prothionamide or ethionamide plus cycloserine or p-aminosalicylic acid. Bedaquiline may be indicated if such a regimen is not feasible because of:
 - i) *in vitro* resistance to a drug (see b. and c. below);
 - ii) known adverse drug reactions, poor tolerance, or contraindication to any component of the combination regimen; or
 - iii) unavailability or lack of a guaranteed supply of a drug(s).
- b. MDR-TB patients with strains resistant to fluoroquinolones or the second-line injectable drugs (kanamycin, amikacin, capreomycin) represent a particular concern given that these are the two most effective classes of second-line drugs. In such cases, bedaquiline may have a crucial role to play to strengthen a regimen, bringing the number of drugs likely to be effective to a minimum of four, and averting the acquisition of additional resistance and progression towards XDR-TB.
- c. While experience in the use of bedaquiline in the management of XDR-TB is limited, it may have an indication in such patients given the limitations in designing an effective regimen based on existing recommendations in many situations. In patients resistant to both classes of injectable drugs and also to fluoroquinolones (i.e. XDR-TB), bedaquiline may lower the need to include drugs belonging to Group 5, some of which have unproven anti-TB activity, high cost, and/or high toxicity.⁵ Bedaquiline may thus be used with or instead of a Group 5 drug. In these cases, special caution is advised on the potential increase of adverse drug reactions due to potential drug-drug interactions, particularly the synergistic cardiotoxic effect on QT prolongation, necessitating close ECG monitoring.
- d. In line with general principles of TB therapeutics, bedaquiline should not be introduced into a regimen in which the other companion drugs are known or believed to be ineffective or are failing to show effectiveness. This implies that bedaquiline should not be added alone to a failing regimen, and should be introduced well before the regimen fails completely.
- e. Bedaquiline should be used strictly at the dose recommended by the manufacturer, i.e. 400mg daily for the first two weeks, followed by 200mg three times per week

Executive summary

⁵ Group 5 drugs belong to different classes of medicines and are not recommended by WHO for routine use in DR-TB patients.

at least 48 hours apart, for a total maximum duration of 24 weeks. Available data suggest better uptake of bedaquiline when administered with food.

- 5. Pharmacovigilance and proper management of adverse drug reactions and prevention of drug-drug interactions.
 - a. Special measures need to be put in place to ensure the early detection and timely reporting of adverse events using active pharmacovigilance methods, such as 'cohort event monitoring'. Any adverse drug reaction attributed to bedaquiline should also be reported to the national pharmacovigilance centre as part of the spontaneous reporting mechanism in the country. As for any other drug in the MDR-TB regimen the patient should be encouraged to report to the attending health worker any adverse event that occurs during the time the drug is being taken. Such occurrences should also trigger a rapid response to manage these untoward effects in the patient.
 - b. When introducing bedaquiline into a regimen, there is also the potential for its interaction with other medications administered concurrently, with additive or synergic adverse effects. Other second-line drugs that are likely to be administered with bedaquiline, particularly clofazimine and moxifloxacin, may increase the risk of cardiotoxicity. Thus, if the drug is introduced into the MDR-TB treatment regimen, monitoring of patients for cardiac dysrhythmias or QT prolongation (i.e. using ECG), liver dysfunction, renal impairment, and other effects as denoted in the product briefing package is mandatory.
 - c. Caution should be exercised when giving bedaquiline together with accompanying drugs that may inhibit liver function (e.g. the effect of ketoconazole or lopinavir/ritonavir on the enzyme CYP3A4), as these could increase bedaquiline concentrations, resulting in toxicity, or with accompanying drugs that may induce liver function (e.g. the effect of rifampicin on the enzyme CYP3A4), as these could result in sub-therapeutic bedaquiline concentrations, resulting in reduced efficacy. Of note, very limited data are available on drug-drug interactions with antiretroviral medicines, and these are based on single dose studies conducted in healthy normal volunteers. Therefore, people living with HIV who will be receiving bedaquiline as part of MDR-TB treatment should have their antiretroviral therapy (ART) regimens designed in close consultation with HIV clinicians and ART specialists.
 - d. Lastly, caution is advised in patients with pre-existing health conditions that may be exacerbated or worsened by bedaquiline. Currently there are no data on the efficacy and safety of bedaquiline in patients with co-morbid conditions such as diabetes, liver and/or renal dysfunction, malignancies, alcohol and substance use, and therefore careful screening for these conditions prior to treatment initiation is required.

WHO strongly recommends the acceleration of Phase III trials in order to generate a more comprehensive evidence base to inform future policy guidance on bedaquiline. WHO strongly urges the development of accurate and reproducible DST methods for bedaquiline and other second-line drugs.

12

List of abbreviations

AE	adverse events		
ART	antiretroviral therapy		
BR	background regimen		
DDI	drug-drug interaction		
DOI	declaration of interest		
DST	drug-susceptibility testing		
ECG	electrocardiogram		
EG	Expert Group		
ERP	External Review Panel		
GRADE	Grading of Recommendations Assessment Development and Evaluation		
GRC	Guidelines Review Committee		
HIV	human immunodeficiency virus		
ITT	intention to treat		
MDR-TB	multidrug-resistant tuberculosis		
MIC	minimal inhibitory concentration		
mITT	modified intention to treat		
NTP	national tuberculosis control programme		
PLHIV	people living with HIV		
PMDT	programmatic management of drug-resistant tuberculosis		
STAG-TB	Strategic and Technical Advisory Group for TB		
ТВ	tuberculosis		
USAID	United States Agency for International Development		
US-FDA	United States Food and Drug Administration		
XDR-TB	extensively drug-resistant tuberculosis		
WHO	World Health Organization		

Interim policy guidance

The use of bedaquiline in the treatment of multidrugresistant tuberculosis

1. Background

The emergence of drug resistance is a major threat to global tuberculosis (TB) care and control. The World Health Organization (WHO) estimates that up to half a million cases of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis (MDR-TB) cases (i.e. resistant to, at least, rifampicin and isoniazid) occur each year globally.⁶ Of these, less than 20% were reported to WHO, largely as a result of critical gaps in diagnostic and treatment capacity in most countries. Furthermore, 84 countries have now reported at least one case of extensively drug-resistant tuberculosis (XDR-TB), a form of TB that is resistant to at least four of the core anti-TB drugs (rifampicin, isoniazid, fluoroquinolones and second-line injectable agents), and associated with high mortality, particularly among people living with human immunodeficiency virus (PLHIV).

The global deployment of new, rapid diagnostic tests for drug resistance, such as the Xpert MTB/RIF assay, is increasing the demand for treatment of MDR-TB patients. Current treatment regimens for drug-resistant TB are far from satisfactory. Whereas most drug-susceptible TB patients can usually be treated successfully with a 6-month course of treatment, in most MDR-TB cases a treatment duration of 20 months or more is used, requiring the daily administration of drugs that are more toxic and less effective than those used to treat drug-susceptible TB. Among MDR-TB patients started on treatment globally in 2009, only 48% were treated successfully, as a result of high frequency of mortality (15%) and loss to follow-up (28%), commonly associated with adverse drug reactions, among other factors.⁷ In a subset of 200 XDR-TB patients in 14 countries, treatment success only reached 33% overall and 26% of cases died. Effective new drugs and treatment regimens are therefore urgently needed to improve safe and effective treatment to reduce patient suffering and deaths.

⁶ *Global tuberculosis control: WHO report 2010* (WHO/HTM/TB/2010.7). Geneva, World Health Organization, 2010.

⁷ *Global tuberculosis control: WHO report 2012* (WHO/HTM/TB/2012.6). Geneva, World Health Organization, 2012.

The landscape of TB drug development has evolved dramatically over the past ten years, and novel drugs are presently, or will soon be, entering Phase III trials for the treatment of MDR-TB. Among these, the bedaquiline compound, proposed for use in the treatment of MDR-TB, has been granted license by the United States Food and Drug Administration (US-FDA) in December 2012. Files have been submitted to a number of other national regulatory authorities, which are currently being evaluated under procedures of 'accelerated' or 'conditional' approval based on early (Phase IIb) clinical data. Several WHO Member States have requested the organization to provide interim advice on the use of bedaquiline in MDR-TB treatment. For these reasons, WHO convened an Expert Group (EG) meeting from 29th to 30th January 2013 in Geneva, Switzerland to review the available evidence on the efficacy, safety and effectiveness of this new drug for the treatment of MDR-TB, and to recommend whether WHO interim guidance on the use of this drug as part of the treatment of MDR-TB is warranted.

It is acknowledged that developing interim guidance on the use of a new TB drug on the basis of Phase IIb data only is a novel step by WHO, and one made in response to requests from WHO Member States for specific guidance. Issuing interim guidance carries with it the responsibility of ensuring that it provides specific recommendations on the conditions for the use of the drug, which reflect the limited data that is currently available. It will also be necessary for WHO to review, revise or update the interim guidance as additional substantive data on efficacy and safety of bedaquiline become available. Acceleration of Phase III trials and completion at the earliest opportunity is imperative, as is timely analysis of emerging operational data on the use of the drug. It should also be noted that, in the absence of interim guidance from WHO, uncontrolled and potentially irresponsible use of the drug may adversely affect TB care and control efforts overall – potentially prompting the emergence of bedaquiline resistance and the possible loss of the first new TB drug in over 40 years.

2. Guidance purpose and target audience

2.1. Purpose

The overall objective of this guidance is to provide the interim principles that should guide the use of bedaquiline – a newly available drug for the treatment of MDR-TB, a life-threatening form of tuberculosis – in conjunction with other WHO-recommended MDR-TB treatment regimens. It also specifies the essential treatment and management conditions for use of this drug, in particular patient eligibility criteria and safety conditions, and presents the necessary caveats relevant to the use of a new drug for which Phase III clinical trial data are not yet available.

WHO guidelines are already available for the programmatic management of drugresistant tuberculosis (PMDT), and the current document should be read in conjunction with those guidelines.^{8,9}

This document should be read in conjunction with the detailed findings included in the EG meeting report. The interim guidance positions bedaquiline in the context of existing guidelines on MDR-TB treatment, as the drug cannot be used on its own and should be added to MDR-TB regimens designed according to WHO-recommended principles.

Manuals and tools to operationalize the interim guidance and introduce bedaquiline within a programmatic context will be provided in subsequent WHO publications.

The planned date of review of this interim guidance is 2015, or earlier in case of significant developments. It is expected that data emerging from planned Phase III clinical trial(s) and early implementing countries will inform future review and possible refinement of the interim policy guidance.

2.2 Target audience

The main target audiences are national TB control programmes (NTP), other public health agencies, and other public and private partners involved in planning, implementing and monitoring tuberculosis control activities. The principles and recommendations are also relevant for specialist clinicians, technical advisors, laboratory technicians, drug procurement managers, other service providers, other relevant government officials, and implementing partners involved in country-level MDR-TB service strengthening. Individuals responsible for programme planning, budgeting, resource mobilization, and training activities for TB diagnostic services may also benefit from this guidance.

3. Guidance development process

The process developed by the Guideline Review Committee (GRC) of WHO was strictly followed. A WHO Guideline Steering Group was formed (see Annex 1), which identified, together with the chair of the EG (see below), the areas requiring evidence synthesis.

⁸ *Guidelines for the programmatic management of drug-resistant tuberculosis, Emergency update 2008.* (WHO/HTM/TB/2008.402). Geneva, World Health Organization, 2008.

⁹ *Guidelines for the programmatic management of drug-resistant tuberculosis, 2011 update.* Geneva: World Health Organization, 2011.

3.1 Expert Group meeting

An EG meeting was convened by the WHO Stop TB Department from 29th to 30th January 2013 to assess all available data on bedaquiline, and with a view to developing interim policy recommendations on its use, as appropriate. The EG (Annex 2) comprised researchers, epidemiologists, end-users (clinicians and national TB programme officers), community representatives and evidence synthesis experts. The EG meeting followed a structured agenda (Annex 3) and was chaired by a clinical epidemiologist/ methodologist with expertise and extensive experience in evidence synthesis and guideline development.

The overall objective of the EG meeting was to evaluate the added benefit of bedaquiline for the treatment of MDR-TB and, if appropriate, to provide recommendations to WHO for interim guidance to countries on its use in conjunction with other secondline drugs used in MDR-TB treatment.

The specific objectives were:

- 1. To evaluate the efficacy and safety of bedaquiline in addition to currently WHO recommended MDR-TB treatment regimens.
- 2. To evaluate the balance between harms and benefits of the drug, its potential costeffectiveness, patient and provider preferences and concerns, and the feasibility of introducing the drug into MDR-TB programmes.
- 3. To provide, as appropriate, recommendations on the use of the drug as part of WHOrecommended MDR-TB treatment regimens, including attention to concerns/ constraints relevant to the use of a new drug for which Phase III clinical trial data are not yet available.

3.2 Management of conflicts of interest

WHO policies on conflicts of interest were developed and applied in consultation with the WHO Legal Department. Every member of the EG was asked to complete the WHO Declaration of Interest (DOI) form before their invitation was confirmed and data shared with them under non-disclosure agreements. All completed forms were reviewed by the WHO Guideline Steering Group in conjunction with the WHO Legal Department prior to the EG meeting. Particular attention was given to potential conflicts of interest related to the appraisal of evidence, the formulation of recommendations and the external peer review process. Particular attention was also given to assessment of financial as well as intellectual interests. In addition, individuals who were involved in clinical trials conducted by the bedaquiline manufacturer, or in any entity or committee, data monitoring committee, scientific advisory board), even if not remunerated, as well as individuals who had been involved in development and testing of the new drug or other, potentially competing, drugs were not considered for inclusion in the EG. DOI statements were summarized by the WHO/Stop TB Department (STB) secretariat at the start of the meeting. A summary is attached in Annex 4.

Technical resource consultants participated in the meeting and provided specific information on selected technical issues but were not involved in the decision-making process, or in the preparation of the actual recommendations. Observers participated only at the request of the Chair and did not contribute to the preparation of the recommendations. All participants signed a confidentiality agreement and were reminded of the need for confidentiality until the full WHO process had been concluded.

3.3 Review of evidence

Publicly available data on the pre-clinical and clinical development of the drug were assembled and reviewed to assess efficacy, safety and tolerability of the drug,¹⁰ and complemented by modelling work to assess the cost-effectiveness of implementation of the drug in MDR-TB programmes. Issues to be addressed in future research were also discussed. In addition, data on final outcomes of the pivotal proof-of-efficacy Phase II trial (that were not available at the time of US-FDA review) were provided to WHO by the manufacturer.

An independent consultant was contracted to review and synthesize all available data into a comprehensive document that was made available to all members of the EG, and prepare the draft GRADE¹¹ evidence tables that were reviewed by the EG.

To comply with current standards for evidence assessment in formulation of policy recommendations, the GRADE system, adopted by WHO for all policy and guidelines development,¹² was used. The GRADE approach, assessing both the quality of evidence and strength of recommendations, aims to provide a comprehensive and transparent approach for developing policy guidance. The GRADE process assesses the impact of a particular intervention on patient-important outcomes and the generalizability of results to the target population, taking into consideration the comparator used and whether comparison was direct or indirect.

A PICO (Population, Intervention, Comparator, Outcome) question was pre-defined in consultation with the WHO EG: "In MDR-TB patients, does the addition of bedaquiline to a background regimen based on WHO-recommendations safely improve patient outcomes?"

¹⁰ All available at: http://www.fda.gov/AdvisoryCommittees/CommitteesMeetingMaterials/Drugs/ Anti-InfectiveDrugsAdvisoryCommittee/ucm293600.htm

¹¹ GRADE: Grades of Recommendation Assessment, Development and Evaluation (www.gradeworkinggroup.org).

¹² WHO *Handbook for Guideline Development, 2012.* Geneva, World Health Organization, 2012. Available at: http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/75146/1/9789241548441_eng.pdf

- 1. Cure by end of study 120 weeks.
- 2. Serious adverse events during investigational 24 weeks treatment phase.
- 3. Mortality.
- 4. Time to culture conversion over 24 weeks.
- 5. Culture conversion at 24 weeks.
- 6. Acquired resistance to second-line drugs (fluoroquinolones, amino-glycosides and capreomycin) at 72 weeks.

In a first stage, experts evaluated the **quality of evidence** for each of the above outcomes according to the following criteria:

- Study design: randomized trial(s), or consecutive selection of patients (observational), or selection of patients according to given reference standard (case-control).
- Risk of bias or limitations in study design and execution.
- Inconsistency: unexplained inconsistency in study endpoints or estimates.
- Indirectness: absence of direct evidence of impact on patient-important outcomes and generalizability.
- Imprecision: wide confidence intervals for treatment outcome estimates.
- Other considerations: possibility of publication bias, etc.

A glossary of the GRADE terms used can be found in Annex 5.

In the second stage, as called for by GRADE, and based on the PICO question, the EG developed a **recommendation** and considered the strength of the recommendation (strong or conditional), based on a balance of effects (benefits weighed against harms), patient values and preferences, resources and equity. The system used to establish the strength and ranking of the recommendations involved assessing each intervention on the basis of: (1) desirable and undesirable effects; (2) quality of available evidence; (3) values and preferences related to interventions in different settings; and (4) cost options for different epidemiological settings.

3.4 Decision-making during the Expert Group meeting

The EG meeting was chaired by a recognized methodologist/evidence synthesis expert. Decisions were based on consensus (preferred option). Only exceptionally, when a consensus could not be achieved among members, did the EG proceed to a vote (with simple majority rule) – this was resorted to in only one instance (see page 27). Concerns and opinions of EG members were noted and included in the final meeting report. The detailed meeting report was prepared by the WHO Secretariat Steering Group and was revised based on input and sign-off by all EG members.

3.5 External peer review

An External Review Panel (ERP) independently reviewed the draft interim guidance prepared by the WHO Guideline Steering Group on the basis of the recommendations by the EG. The ERP was composed of 10 reviewers external to the EG, including content experts, end-users from high TB and HIV burden countries, and representatives from the WHO Strategic and Technical Advisory Group for TB (STAG-TB). The list of members of the ERP can be found in Annex 6. Comments made by the members of the ERP were reflected in the final version of the guidance document.

3.6 Financial support

Financial support for the EG meeting and related analyses were provided under the USAID consolidated grant to the WHO Stop TB Department (project number: US 2012 0392). The US Centers for Disease Control (CDC) completed the evaluation of sputum culture conversion as a surrogate marker of MDR-TB treatment outcome (work carried out by Ekaterina Kurbatova and colleagues).

4. Evidence base for policy formulation

Publicly available data on the pre-clinical and clinical development of bedaquiline were reviewed. These included toxicity, dosing and pharmacokinetic studies, drug–drug interaction (DDI) studies, an early bactericidal activity study, safety studies, a pivotal Phase IIb clinical trial and an (ongoing) single arm open-label trial.^{13,14}

A total of 265 subjects participated in 11 Phase I trials with bedaquiline (208 subjects were enrolled in eight single-dose trials evaluating bedaquiline doses up to 800 mg; and 57 subjects were enrolled in three multiple-dose trials evaluating bedaquiline doses up to 400 mg daily with a maximum treatment duration of 15 days). The Phase I trials provided a basic understanding of bedaquiline's pharmacokinetic characteristics, DDI potential, and short-term safety/tolerability in healthy subjects and in a special population of moderately hepatic-impaired subjects. A double-blind, single-dose trial was conducted to evaluate the effect of a single supra-therapeutic (800 mg) dose of bedaquiline on the QT corrected (QTc) interval.

A Phase IIa, 7-day extended early bactericidal activity trial in 75 patients with drugsusceptible TB (evaluating doses up to 400 mg bedaquiline daily) was conducted to evaluate clinical antimycobacterial activity of bedaquiline.

 ¹³ Janssen Pharmaceutical Companies, 2012. TMC207 (bedaquiline) treatment of patients with MDR-TB (NDA 204–384). Briefing document to the Anti-Infective Drugs Advisory Committee Meeting, 28 November 2012. All documents available at: http://www.fda.gov/AdvisoryCommittees/ CommitteesMeetingMaterials/Drugs/Anti-InfectiveDrugsAdvisoryCommittee/ucm293600.htm

¹⁴ References for all documents available on bedaquiline can be found at the website indicated in page 1 of this document.

21

The bedaquiline Phase II programme encompassed 2 Phase IIb clinical trials: C208 and C209. Trial C208 consisted of two stages, of which Stage 1 was an exploratory study and Stage 2 was a multi-centre, stratified, randomized, double-blind placebo-controlled trial, serving as a pivotal proof-of-efficacy study. Study C209 is a single-arm, open label trial (ongoing).

4.1 Evidence for the efficacy of bedaquiline in the treatment of MDR-TB

Evidence for efficacy derives from the C208 Stage 2 trial, in which subjects aged 18 to 65 years with newly diagnosed MDR-TB – enrolled from 15 sites in Brazil, India, Latvia, Peru, the Philippines, the Russian Federation, South Africa and Thailand – were randomized in a 1:1 ratio to receive bedaquiline 400 mg, or placebo, daily for the first two weeks, followed by 200 mg bedaquiline, or placebo, three times per week for the remaining 22 weeks.¹⁵In both the bedaquiline and placebo arms, patients received a five-drug MDR-TB background medication regimen (BR) consisting of fluoroquinolones (mainly ofloxacin), aminoglycosides (mainly kanamycin), pyrazinamide, ethionamide, ethambutol, and cycloserine/terizidone in various combinations. After 24 weeks, subjects continued the BR of MDR-TB therapy until a total treatment duration of 96 weeks was achieved. The total duration of the study was 120 weeks. All subjects presented in the data sets completed Week 72 (the pre-determined study data cut-off point) and also Week 120 (end of study).

The primary efficacy endpoint for C208 Stage 2 was time to sputum culture conversion¹⁶ in commercial liquid culture (MGIT[™] 960 Mycobacterial Detection System, Becton Dickinson Diagnostic systems, USA) during the 24-week investigational treatment period, evaluated after all subjects had completed the 24-week investigational treatment period, or discontinued earlier. In the primary efficacy analysis, subjects who discontinued before week 24 were considered as not having culture converted (censored at the last culture visit, i.e. missing = failure). Primary efficacy analysis was based on a modified intention to treat (mITT) population, which excluded subjects who had drugsusceptible TB, XDR-TB or unconfirmed MDR-TB (based on susceptibility tests taken prior to randomization), or had missing or negative baseline cultures, or who were positive at baseline, but had no post-baseline culture results. The mITT population was composed of 132 subjects (66 in each of the bedaquiline and placebo groups). The median time to culture conversion was 83 days (95%CI: 56, 97) in the bedaquiline group compared to 125 days (95%CI: 98, 168) in the placebo group. Primary analysis at Week 24 using the Cox proportional hazards model (adjusted for lung cavitation and pooled centre) showed a statistically significant difference in time to culture conversion

¹⁵ This dose regimen was selected based on non-clinical safety and microbiology data as well as safety and pharmacokinetic results from several Phase I clinical trials with bedaquiline, and early bactericidal activity results from the earlier Phase IIa trial C202.

¹⁶ Defined as: "two consecutive negative cultures from sputa collected at least 25 days apart (as well as all intermediate cultures), and this culture negativity was not followed by a confirmed positive MGIT culture (or a single positive sputum result after the subject completed the trial), and the subject did not discontinue up to the time point being analyzed".

between the two treatment groups in favour of bedaquiline: HR=2.44 [1.57, 3.80] (p<0.0001).

The secondary endpoint for C208 Stage 2 was the proportion of patients with culture conversion. The proportion of subjects with culture conversion at Week 24 (i.e. 24-week responders [missing = failure]) was 78.8% in the bedaquiline arm and 57.6% in the placebo arm (p = 0.008, based on a logistic regression model with only treatment as covariate). Similar analyses were conducted at Week 72 and Week 120. The percentage of responders (missing = failure) at Week 72 (i.e. the time point attained by all Stage 2 subjects at the interim analysis who were ongoing in the trial) was 71.2% in the bedaquiline group and 56.1% in the placebo group (p= 0.069). Utilizing all available efficacy data up to end of study (Week 120), the percentage was 62.1% in the bedaquiline group and 43.9% in the placebo group (p= 0.035).

Efficacy was further evaluated using *WHO-recommended treatment outcome definitions* applied to Week 120 final data. Cure was defined as: "at least five consecutive negative cultures from samples collected at least 30 days apart in the final 12 months of treatment; if only one positive culture is reported during that time, a patient may still be considered cured, provided that this positive culture is followed by a minimum of three consecutive negative cultures taken at least 30 days apart". In the bedaquiline arm, 38/66 (57.6%) subjects were categorized as cured, compared to 21/66 (31.8%) in the placebo arm (p=0.003).

Table 1. Summary of evidence for the efficacy of bedaquiline in the treatment of
MDR-TB

Parameters	Bedaquiline	Placebo	p value
Median time to sputum conversion	83 days (95% CI: 56,97)	125 days (95% CI: 98,168)	<0.0001
Proportion of patients with culture conversion			
Week 24	78.8 %	57.6%	0.008
Week 72	71.2%	56.1%	0.069
Week 120	62.1%	43.9%	0.035
Proportion cured	57.6% (38/66)	31.8% (21/66)	0.003

Interim policy guidance

4.2. Evidence for the safety of bedaquiline in the treatment of MDR-TB

The safety database covered non-clinical aspects (pharmacology and toxicology) during pre-clinical development, and human experience in Study C208 (pivotal randomized control trial, double-blind placebo-controlled) and Study C209 (single arm, open label). The intention to treat (ITT) population in each of these studies was used for the description of safety. A total of 160 subjects contributed to ITT analysis, 79 in the bedaquiline arm and 81 in the placebo arm.

Similar numbers of patients in the bedaquiline group and placebo group reported adverse events (AEs) (Table 2). The most frequently reported AEs in the bedaquiline group (from both controlled and uncontrolled trials) were nausea, arthralgia, headache and vomiting. Additional AEs identified were, in order of frequency: dizziness, increased transaminases, myalgia, diarrhoea and QT prolongation on electrocardiogram (ECG). AEs of at least grade 3 were similar in both groups: 28/102 (27.5) in the bedaquiline group and 24/105 (22.9) in the placebo group. Main safety concerns included QT prolongation and cardiac events, hepatic events, and deaths.

	Bedaquiline/BR N=79 (%)	Placebo/BR N=81 (%)
Musculoskeletal and connective tissue	39 (49.4)	40 (49.4)
Myalgia	6 (7.6)	7 (8.6)
Musculoskeletal pain	4 (5.1)	4 (4.9)
Rhabdomyolysis/Myopathy	0	0
Gastrointestinal disorders	53 (67.1)	53 (65.4)
Pancreatitis	1 (1.3)	0
Increased amylase	2 (2.5)	1 (1.2)
Nausea	32 (40.5)	30 (37.0)
Vomiting	23 (29.1)	22 (27.2)
Upper abdominal pain	10 (12.7)	7 (8.6)
Gastritis	7 (8.9)	16 (19.8)

Table 2. Summary of adverse events of interest

Cardiovascular safety (Trial C208: pooled experience Stage 1 and Stage 2)

Mean QTcF¹⁷ increases were observed in both the pooled bedaquiline ('Any bedaquiline') and pooled placebo ('Any placebo') groups, but they were more pronounced in the Any bedaquiline group: more patients had QTcF values above 450 ms (26.6% versus 8.6%) and more patients had QTcF increases >60 ms from reference values (9.1 % versus 2.5%). There were no reports of Torsade de Pointes events, and no reported fatalities from sudden death. Bedaquiline, in multiple dosing, can prolong the QT interval and the risk is highest during the treatment phase, but could extend beyond the treatment period. The use of bedaquiline with QT-prolonging medications increases the risk of prolonged QT interval, i.e. QTcF prolongation from multiple QTcF prolonging drugs could be additive (e.g. clofazimine).

23

¹⁷ QTcF: QT interval corrected for heart rate according to the Fridericia method.

ECG parameter,	Investigational treatment phase: pooled controlled trials		
abnormality	Bedaquiline (Any) N (%)	Placebo (Any) N (%)	
QTcF calc (ms)	102	105	
450 ms – ≤480 ms	23 (22.5)	7 (6.7)	
480 ms – ≤500 ms	3 (2.9)	1 (1.0)	
More than 500 ms	1 (1.0)	0	
QTcF calc (ms)	99	101	
Increase by 30–60 ms	52 (52.5)	33 (32.7)	
Increase by >60 ms	10 (10.1)	4 (4.0)	

Table 3. QT prolongation during treatment as reflected by worst QTcF

N = number of ITT subjects with data; QTcF: QT interval corrected for heart rate to the Fridericia method.

Hepatic events (Trial C208: pooled experience Stage 1 and Stage 2)

There was a higher incidence of events related to hepatic disorders in the Any bedaquiline group (9 subjects, 8.8%) compared to the Any placebo group (2 subjects, 1.9%). Increases in transaminases accounted for the majority of these reported events. An analysis to identify cases of severe liver toxicity revealed 1 case of a patient who experienced concurrent >3-fold elevation of aspartate aminotransferase (AST) and >2-fold elevation in total bilirubin, but was confounded by reported alcoholic hepatitis and concurrent intake of hepatotoxic background medications.

Table 4. Investigator-reported hepatic events

Investigator-reported events	Bedaquiline 24 weeks (N=79)	Placebo 24 weeks (N=81)
Liver-related signs/symptoms	8 (10%)	3 (3.7%)
Hepatic disorders	10 (12.5%)	5 (6.7%)
Possible hepatic-related disorders	10 (12.5%)	5 (6.7%)
Hepatitis (non-infectious)	2 (2.5%)	1 (1.23%)
Hepatic failure, fibrosis, cirrhosis, liver damage-related conditions	1 (1.25%)	0

Mortality

Four deaths were reported from the C208 Stage 1 trial: 2 out of 23 subjects (8.7%) in the bedaquiline arm and 2 out of 24 subjects (8.3%) in the placebo arm. In the C208 Stage 2 trial, twelve deaths were reported in total (irrespective of when deaths occurred). Of these, 10/79 (12.7%) came from the bedaquiline group and 2/81 (2.5%) from the placebo group (p=0.017) (ITT analysis). In the bedaquiline group, 8 of the 10 deaths occurred in culture converters. TB was the cause of death in the two placebo arm deaths and in 5 of the 10 bedaquiline-arm deaths (all occurred off bedaquiline treatment). Counting deaths strictly at the 120 weeks cut-off point reveal nine deaths in

the bedaquiline and one death in the placebo group. There was no discernible pattern between death and culture conversion, relapse, microbiological response, susceptibility to drugs used in the BR, HIV status, or severity of disease. Despite detailed descriptive line listings of all deaths, the reason(s) for the imbalance were not clear.

Subject	Treatment arm	Category	Cause of death
Deaths while followed during trial			
208-4041	BDQ	Non-responder; converted; discontinued	Alcohol poisoning
208-4153	BDQ	Non-responder; relapse	TB-related illness
208-4224	BDQ	Non-responder; relapse	TB-related illness
208-5069	BDQ	Non-responder; converted; discontinued	Cirrhosis, hepatitis, anaemia
208-4399	BDQ	Responder; converted	Cerebrovascular accident
208-5067	BDQ	Responder; converted	Peritonitis and septic shock
208-4120	Placebo	Non-responder; failure to convert	Haemoptysis (TB)
Deaths during long-term survival follow-up of prematurely withdrawn subjects			
208-4127	BDQ	Non-responder; failure to convert	TB-related illness
208-4145	BDQ	Non-responder; relapse	TB-related illness
208-4378	BDQ	Non-responder; relapse	Motor vehicle accident
208-4464	BDQ	Non-responder; failure to convert	TB-related illness
208-4155	Placebo	Non-responder; failure to convert	TB-related illness

Table 5. Trial C208 Stage 2: Causes of death

4.3. Cost effectiveness

Modelling of the incremental cost-effectiveness of adding bedaquiline to WHOrecommended MDR-TB regimens was conducted by an independent consultant contracted by WHO for review by the EG. The model assumed that bedaquiline would be added to treatment for all patients starting MDR-TB treatment. Data from WHO were available on current MDR-TB treatment costs (excluding programme costs) and effectiveness in several high TB burden settings. Several scenarios were explored to appraise the cost-effectiveness of bedaquiline in these settings. Under the model assumptions, the bedaquiline-containing regimens were assessed as relatively costeffective in most settings, but results were ambiguous in low-income settings, and highly dependent on the assumptions made about the generalizability of trial results to routine settings. The EG noted that further analysis would be needed to test the robustness of the assumptions in various settings and to separately assess affordability. As the recommendation of the EG is to use bedaquiline for only selected sub-groups of the full MDR-TB patient population (as opposed to all patients with MDR-TB that were considered in the cost-effectiveness analysis), the cost-effectiveness model needs to be further refined such that results are available for these sub-groups specifically.

25

5. Expert Group recommendations

5.1. Summary of evidence to recommendation

Based on the GRADE process, the EG had a low level of confidence in using the available data for global decision-making, given that the available evidence was limited. There were concerns about imprecision and indirectness due to the small sample size, the use of mITT (i.e. not ITT) analysis, and the low quality of evidence for the background MDR-TB treatment regimens used in the trial. In particular, the EG was concerned about the low cure rate at 120 weeks observed in the placebo group when compared to those reported from recent published reviews.^{18,19,20} This could indicate that the patients included in the trial were not representative of the MDR-TB population at large and that the effects observed in the bedaquiline arm may not be reproducible under programme conditions.

The EG also discussed the potential to draw conclusions for different sub-categories of MDR-TB patients, such as patients with strains resistant to either fluoroquinolones or injectable drugs. No evidence for use of the drug in XDR-TB patients was available, since these patients were excluded from the mITT analysis. No information, aside from MDR-TB status, was available on drug susceptibility testing at diagnosis. Members of the EG did, however, feel that the use of bedaquiline in XDR-TB patients or those with resistance or contraindication to fluoroquinolones or injectables may have added benefit, given that treatment options for these patients are severely curtailed.

The EG also concluded that recommendations could only be made on the use of bedaquiline in addition to current WHO-recommended regimens. Bedaquiline should not replace drugs generally recommended for MDR-TB treatment unless these are considered ineffective.²¹

There was modest agreement that the quality of evidence for benefits was "low" due to imprecision and indirectness, and high agreement that the quality of evidence for harms was "low" or "very low" due to imprecision, indirectness and risk of bias. The EG expressed particular concern about mortality risk, with a high degree of uncertainty about the evidence.

¹⁸ Ahuja SD et al. Multidrug resistant pulmonary tuberculosis treatment regimens and patient outcomes: an individual patient data meta-analysis of 9,153 patients. *PLoS Medicine* 2012;9(8):e1001300.

¹⁹ Orenstein EW et al. Treatment outcomes among patients with multidrug-resistant tuberculosis: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Infectious Diseases* 2009 Mar;9(3):153–61.

²⁰ Johnston JC, Shahidi NC, Sadatsafavi M and Fitzgerald JM. Treatment Outcomes of Multidrug-Resistant Tuberculosis: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *PLoS ONE*. 2009 Sep 9;4(9):e6914.

²¹ WHO. *Guidelines for the programmatic management of drug-resistant tuberculosis, 2011 Update.* (WHO/HTM/TB/2011.6). Geneva, World Health Organization, 2011.

Table 6. Anti-tuberculosis agents for treatment of drug-susceptible and drugresistant tuberculosis

Group 1 First-line oral agents	isoniazid (H); rifampicin (R); ethambutol (E); pyrazinamide (Z); rifabutin (Rfb) ª
Group 2 Injectable agents	kanamycin (Km); amikacin (Am); capreomycin (Cm); viomycin (Vm); streptomycin (S)
Group 3 Fluoroquinolones	moxifloxacin (Mfx); levofloxacin (Lfx); ofloxacin (Ofx)
Group 4 Oral bacteriostatic second-line agents	ethionamide (Eto); prothionamide (Pto); cycloserine (Cs); terizidone (Trd); <i>p</i> -aminosalicylic acid (PAS)
Group 5 Agents with unclear role in DR-TB treatment (not recommended by WHO for routine use in DR-TB patients)	clofazimine (Cfz); linezolid (Lzd); amoxicillin/clavulanate (Amx/Clv); thioacetazone (Thz); imipenem/cilastatin (Ipm/ Cln); high-dose isoniazid (high-dose H); ^b clarithromycin (Clr)

^a Rifabutin is not on the WHO Essential Medicines List. It has been added here as it is used routinely in many settings, among patients taking protease inhibitors.

^b High-dose H is defined as 16–20 mg/kg/day.

The need for caution in prescribing bedaquiline was stressed, as well as the importance of clear and understandable communication with patients prior to drug prescription. Mention was made of the need to support this by informed consent, ideally in writing.

The EG could not reach consensus on the overall balance of harms and benefits and proceeded to a vote (observers and technical resources consultants were excluded). The results were as follows: 10 votes that benefits outweighed harms; 4 votes that harms outweighed the benefits; and 2 abstentions (including the chair).

The EG felt that there were potentially large variations in patient values and preferences for each outcome. Most members felt that patients would place high value on survival but that it was less clear that patients would value microbiological culture conversion in the same way. EG members expressed the view that patient acceptance of bedaquiline would depend on the severity of their disease and the likelihood of designing an effective background regimen – e.g. XDR-TB patient groups might be more likely to accept the risk of taking a new drug with apparent increased risk of death than patients with uncomplicated MDR-TB without additional drug resistance.

The EG had difficulty reaching consensus on the resource requirements of the proposed recommendation. While the cost-effectiveness modelling showed overall benefit, there were concerns about the simplifying assumptions used (e.g. no accounting for the difference in serious adverse events, no accounting for effect on transmission, uncertainty about application of trial outcomes – including deaths – to routine programmatic conditions, etc.). The EG also felt that cost effectiveness would not necessarily translate into affordability or country readiness to pay given the potentially high cost of bedaquiline. Resource implications related to programme costs, training of health care staff, and establishing active pharmacovigilance systems were not explicitly

27

discussed due to time constraints. The EG nevertheless concluded that the resource implications of introducing bedaquiline would probably involve "small cost relative to net benefits".

Lastly, the EG felt that effects on equity of bedaquiline addition to WHO-recommended MDR-TB treatment was difficult to assess, due to the uncertainly of affordability and country willingness to pay, as well as the difference in opinion on the balance of benefits and harms discussed above.

5.2. Expert Group recommendations

The EG suggested that, as an interim recommendation, bedaquiline may be added to a WHO-recommended regimen in MDR-TB adult patients under the following conditions (conditional recommendation, very low confidence in estimates of effects):

- when an effective treatment regimen containing four second-line drugs in addition to pyrazinamide, according to WHO recommendations, cannot be designed;
- when there is documented evidence of resistance to any fluoroquinolone in addition to multidrug resistance.

In addition, the EG recommended that:

- a duly informed decision-making process by patients should be followed;
- bedaquiline be used with caution in people living with HIV, as well as in patients with co-morbidities (such as diabetes) or people reporting alcohol or substance use, due to limited or no information;
- bedaquiline be used for a maximum duration of 6 months and at the suggested dosing (400 mg daily for the first 2 weeks, followed by 200 mg three times per week for the remaining 22 weeks);
- bedaquiline must not be added alone to a failing regimen;
- baseline testing and monitoring for QT prolongation and development of arrhythmia is imperative;
- clinical monitoring and management of co-morbidities (especially cardiac and liver disease) should be in place;
- spontaneous reporting of adverse drug reactions is reinforced at country level and active pharmacovigilance is established among patient groups treated with the drug;²²
- in the absence of a specific drug-susceptibility test, resistance to bedaquiline should be monitored through assessment of minimum inhibitory concentrations (MICs);
- resistance to other anti-TB drugs should be monitored following WHO recommendations.

²² For more details see: A practical handbook on the pharmacovigilance of medicines used in the treatment of tuberculosis: enhancing the safety of the TB patient. Geneva, World Health Organization, 2012. Available from: http://www.who.int/medicines/publications/ pharmacovigilance_tb/

29

The EG also recommended that these interim recommendations be re-assessed in 2015, or earlier if additional data of significance become available increasing the knowledge on safety, toxicity and efficacy of bedaquiline (e.g. post-marketing studies, ongoing trials and other studies).

5.3. Research implications

The EG strongly supported the need for an acceleration of Phase III trials to expand knowledge on safety and efficacy of bedaquiline, with particular attention to mortality (including causes of death), in the treatment of MDR-TB. The EG identified further research gaps, including:

- development of a reliable drug susceptibility test for bedaquiline;
- pharmacokinetics, safety and efficacy studies in specific populations (infants and children, HIV patients – especially those on antiretroviral therapy (ART), alcohol and substance users, elderly people, pregnant or nursing women, people with extrapulmonary TB, people with diabetes);
- safety studies, including type, frequency and severity of adverse events (short and long term), and mortality (including cause of death);
- drug-drug interactions, including with other existing and newly developed TB drugs and ART;
- acquisition of resistance to bedaquiline and to other TB drugs;
- identification of optimal combination of drugs including bedaquiline and determination of optimal duration and dosing of treatment;
- patient acceptability;
- appropriate cost-effectiveness studies.

6. WHO Interim policy recommendations

In view of the aforementioned evidence assessment and advice provided by the EG, WHO recommends that *bedaquiline may be added to a WHO-recommended regimen in adult patients with pulmonary MDR-TB (conditional recommendation, very low confidence in estimates of effects).*

Given the limited data available on bedaquiline and its use under the various situations that may be encountered in different clinical settings, adequate provisions for safe and effective use of the drug must be in place. Consequently, countries are advised to follow a phased approach to bedaquiline implementation, ideally through observational cohorts, where the following measures are in place. The WHO recommendation for the inclusion of bedaquiline in the adult treatment regimen of MDR-TB is subject to the following five conditions being met:

- 1. **Treatment is administered under closely monitored conditions,** adhering to best practices in treatment delivery to enable optimal drug effectiveness and safety. Given that the results of the Phase IIb trial showed an excess mortality in the bedaquiline arm versus placebo arm, and that results of Phase III trials are only expected a few years from now, it is particularly important that the introduction of bedaquiline is carefully monitored for safety. It is therefore recommended that the following measures are in place:
 - a. Sound treatment and management protocols, including clear patient eligibility criteria, procedures for informed consent, and defined roles and responsibilities of all professionals involved. The treatment protocols should allow for the prospective capture of data on key variables for both effectiveness and safety. Safety concerns are best addressed using the cohort event monitoring methodology employed for active pharmacovigilance.²³ Electronic systems will facilitate efficient data management and generation of key indicators.²⁴
 - b. Treatment protocols are preferably submitted to and approved by the relevant national ethics authority in the country, prior to patient enrolment on treatment.
 - c. Preferably, oversight of treatment and management programmes is provided by an independent group of experts in clinical management and public health – for instance, a national MDR-TB advisory group.
- 2. **Proper patient inclusion.** The current recommendation for the use of bedaquiline applies to adults (≥18yrs) with pulmonary disease. Special caution is needed when bedaquiline is used in people aged 65 years and older, and in adults living with HIV, as data on efficacy and safety are extremely limited. Use of the drug in pregnant women and children is not advised due to a lack of evidence on safety and

²³ A practical handbook on the pharmacovigilance of medicines used in the treatment of tuberculosis: enhancing the safety of the TB patient. Geneva, World Health Organization, 2012. Available from: http://www.who.int/medicines/publications/pharmacovigilance_tb/

²⁴ *Electronic recording and reporting for tuberculosis care and control* (WHO/HTM/TB/2011.22). Geneva, World Health Organization, 2012.

- 3. **Patient informed consent obtained.** Health-care providers should ensure that the patient is: (i) aware of the novel nature of bedaquiline; (ii) appreciates the reason why the drug is being proposed to be included in the regimen; and (iii) recognizes the benefits and potential harms. In addition, health-care workers should obtain the patient's agreement on the inclusion of bedaquiline in the prescribed treatment regimen. This informed consent process must be documented and signed by the patient, and applies to all situations where bedaquiline is employed, including under compassionate use programmes.
- 4. Adherence to principles of designing a WHO-recommended MDR-TB regimen. As uncertainties remain about the relative benefits and harms when using bedaquiline, caution is advised when other options to compose an effective MDR-TB regimen using conventional second-line medication still exist. In addition, the shortcomings of conventional drug-susceptibility testing (DST) of secondline anti-TB drugs must be taken into account: DST of second-line drugs is only considered to be accurate and reproducible for fluoroquinolones, aminoglycosides (kanamycin, amikacin) and capreomycin (a polypeptide).²⁵ Evidence for accuracy and reproducibility of DST to other second-line drugs is very limited and value for clinical decision-making is uncertain. DST for bedaquiline has not yet been standardized. Laboratory testing of the minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC) of bedaquiline seems to suggest a breakpoint for susceptibility at <0.5µg/ml in agar medium; however, until a specific DST assay for bedaquiline is developed, clinicians will not be able to be guided by MIC values or DST results when composing a regimen. Furthermore, MDR-TB patients may respond poorly to treatment for reasons other than drug resistance. A change in medication may, therefore, have to be based on persistence of positive sputum culture, or reversal to positive following initial culture conversion.
 - a. The WHO-recommended MDR-TB treatment regimen is typically composed of at least pyrazinamide and four second-line drugs considered to be effective (based on DST and/or previous use and/or drug resistance surveillance data): a fluoroquinolone (preferably later-generation), a second-line injectable agent, and two bacteriostatic drugs, preferably prothionamide or ethionamide plus cycloserine or p-aminosalicylic acid.²⁶ Bedaquiline may be indicated if such a regimen is not feasible because of:
 - i) in vitro resistance to a drug (see b. and c. below);

31

²⁵ Policy guidance on drug susceptibility testing (DST) of second-line anti-tuberculosis drugs. Geneva, World Health Organization, 2008. (WHO/HTM/TB/2008.392). Available from: whqlibdoc.who. int/hq/2008/WHO_HTM_TB_2008.392_eng.pdf

²⁶ *Guidelines for the programmatic management of drug-resistant tuberculosis, 2011 Update.* (WHO/ HTM/TB/2011.6). Geneva, World Health Organization. 2011.

ii) known adverse drug reactions, poor tolerance, or contraindication to any component of the combination regimen; or

iii) unavailability or lack of a guaranteed supply of a drug.

- b. MDR-TB patients with strains resistant to either fluoroquinolones or the second-line injectable drugs (kanamycin, amikacin, capreomycin) represent a particular concern given that these are the two most effective classes of second-line drugs. In such cases, bedaquiline may have a crucial role to play to strengthen a regimen, bringing the number of drugs likely to be effective to a minimum of four, and averting the acquisition of additional resistance and progression towards XDR-TB.
- c. While experience in the use of bedaquiline in the management of XDR-TB is limited, it may have an indication in such patients given the limitations in designing an effective regimen based on existing recommendations in many situations.²⁷ In patients resistant to both classes of injectable drugs and also to fluoroquinolones (i.e. XDR-TB), bedaquiline may lower the need to include drugs belonging to Group 5, some of which have unproven anti-tuberculosis activity, high cost, or high toxicity. Bedaquiline may thus be used with or instead of a Group 5 drug. In these cases, special caution is advised on the potential increase of adverse drug reactions due to potential drug-drug interactions, particularly the synergistic cardiotoxic effect on QT prolongation, necessitating close ECG monitoring.
- d. In line with general principles of TB therapeutics, bedaquiline should not be introduced into a regimen in which the other companion drugs are known or believed to be ineffective or are failing to show effectiveness. This implies that bedaquiline should not be added alone to a failing regimen, and should be introduced well before the regimen fails completely.
- e. Bedaquiline should be used strictly at the dose recommended by the manufacturer, i.e. 400mg daily for the first two weeks, followed by 200mg three times per week at least 48 hours apart, for a total maximum duration of 24 weeks. Available data suggest better uptake of bedaquiline when administered with food.
- 5. Pharmacovigilance and proper management of adverse drug reactions and prevention of drug-drug interactions.
 - a. Special measures need to be put in place to ensure the early detection and timely reporting of adverse events using active pharmacovigilance methods, such as 'cohort event monitoring'. Any adverse drug reaction attributed to bedaquiline should also be reported to the national pharmacovigilance centre as part of the spontaneous reporting mechanism in the country. As for any other drug in the MDR-TB regimen the patient should be encouraged to report to the attending health worker any adverse event that occurs during the time the drug is being

²⁷ *Guidelines for the programmatic management of drug-resistant tuberculosis, Emergency update 2008.* (WHO/HTM/TB/2008.402). Geneva, World Health Organization. 2008.
taken. Such occurrences should also trigger a rapid response to manage these untoward effects in the patient.

- b. When introducing bedaquiline into a regimen, there is also the potential for its interaction with other medications administered concurrently, with additive or synergic adverse effects. Other second-line drugs that are likely to be administered with bedaquiline, particularly clofazimine and moxifloxacin, may increase the risk of cardiotoxicity. Thus, if the drug is introduced into the MDR-TB treatment regimen, monitoring of patients for cardiac dysrhythmias or QT prolongation (i.e. using ECG), liver dysfunction, renal impairment, and other effects as denoted in the product briefing package is mandatory.²⁸
- c. Caution should be exercised when giving bedaquiline together with accompanying drugs that may inhibit liver function (e.g. the effect of ketoconazole or lopinavir/ritonavir on the enzyme CYP3A4), as these could increase bedaquiline concentrations, resulting in toxicity, or with accompanying drugs that may induce liver function (e.g. the effect of rifampicin on the enzyme CYP3A4), as these could result in sub-therapeutic bedaquiline concentrations, resulting in reduced efficacy. Of note, very limited data are available on drug-drug interactions with antiretroviral medicines, and these are based on single dose studies conducted in healthy normal volunteers. Therefore, people living with HIV who will be receiving bedaquiline as part of MDR-TB treatment should have their ART regimens designed in close consultation with HIV clinicians and ART specialists.
- d. Lastly, caution is advised in patients with pre-existing health conditions that may be exacerbated or worsened by bedaquiline. Currently there are no data on the efficacy and safety of bedaquiline in patients with co-morbid conditions such as diabetes, liver and/or renal dysfunction, malignancies, alcohol and substance use, and therefore careful screening for these conditions prior to treatment initiation is required.

WHO strongly recommends the acceleration of Phase III trials in order to generate a more comprehensive evidence base to inform future policy on bedaquiline.

WHO strongly urges the development of accurate and reproducible DST methods for bedaquiline and other second-line drugs.

7. Dissemination and implementation

WHO interim policy guidance, as well as the systematic review reports and the EG meeting report, will be published online (www.who.int/tb/en) and disseminated

33

²⁸ It should be noted that bedaquiline has a very large apparent volume of distribution and has a markedly prolonged terminal half-life (about 5.5 months), which reflects the slow release of the compound from peripheral tissue compartments. See: http://www. fda.gov/downloads/AdvisoryCommittees/CommitteesMeetingMaterials/Drugs/Anti-InfectiveDrugsAdvisoryCommittee/UCM329260.pdf

through WHO/STB listserves to all WHO Regional and Country Offices, Member States, the Stop TB Partnership, donors, technical agencies and other stakeholders. As stated above, this interim guidance will be re-assessed in 2015, or earlier if additional data of significance become available increasing the knowledge on safety, toxicity and efficacy of bedaquiline (e.g. post-marketing studies, ongoing trials and studies). In this respect, it is noted that the US-FDA made the following requests to the company:

"- A phase III trial in MDR-TB cases, with assessment of long-term outcomes of failure or relapse at least 6 months after all MDR-TB treatment is completed (to be submitted by March 2022).

- Establishment of a patient registry for all bedaquiline-treated patients to assess the incidence of safety concerns (with annual reporting until 2018).

- Studies to define MIC methods for bedaquiline (by 2014), and assessment of actual MICs in clinical use (by 2019).

- An *in-vitro* study to assess the potential of bedaquiline and its metabolite as substrate, inducers or inhibitors of OATP1B1 and OATP1B3 drug transporters (by December 2013)."

To facilitate the implementation of this guidance, a derivative product (i.e. operational 'how-to' document) will be developed. WHO will provide guidance to programmes on monitoring and evaluation aspects as well as on essential data to be collected.

Table 7. The GRADE evidence profile summary

Author(s): WHO Expert Group on bedaquiline for MDR-TB

Date: 2013-01-30

Question: In MDR-TB patients, does the addition of a bedaquiline to a background regimen based on WHO recommendations safely improve patient outcomes?

November 2012 (document available for public disclosure without redaction). 2. US-FDA AIDAC Meeting 28 Nov 2012. Slide presentations by Janssen R&D; Slide presentations by US-FDA. (http://www.fda.gov/Adviso-ryCommittees/Commi Bibliography: 1. Janssen Pharmaceutical Companies, 2012. TMC207 (bedaquiline) treatment of patients with MDR-TB (NdA 204-384). Briefing document to the Anti-Infective Drugs Advisory Committee Meeting, 28

Definitions of study population:

mITT = modified intention to treat population (all missing or discontinued subjects are regarded as failures); conventionally used to assess efficacy parameters in drug trials. [TT = intention to treat population (all randomized subjects who had received at least one dose of treatment); conventionally used to assess safety parameters in drug trials;

		Ū	Quality assessment	nt			No of J	No of patients	H	Effect	Quality	Importance
No of studies Design	Design	Risk of bias	Inconsistency Indirectness	Indirectness	Imprecision	Other considerations	Bedaquiline added to BR	BR alone	Relative (95%CI)	Absolute		
Subjects cured	I by end of study	: 120 weeks (C2	Subjects cured by end of study: 120 weeks (C208 Stage 2: mITT) $^{\rm 1.2}$) 1,2								
13	randomized trials	no serious risk of bias ⁴	no serious inconsistency	serious ⁵	serious ⁵	none	38/66 ¹ (57.6%)	21/66 ¹ (31.8%)	RR 1.81 (1.26 to 2.31) ^{3,6}	RR 1.81 (1.26 26 more per 100 to 2.31) ³⁶ (from 8 more to 42 more)	++OO Low	Critical
Serious Adver	se Events during	investigational	Serious Adverse Events during investigational 24 week treatment phase (C208 Stages 1 and 2:	nt phase (C208		ITT) 7 (assessed through clinical and laboratory results)	hrough clinical	and laboratory	results)			
28	randomized trials	no serious risk of bias	no serious inconsistency	Serious ⁹	very serious ⁵	none	7/102 ¹⁰ (6.9%)	2/105 (1.9%)	RR 3.6 (0.77 to 14.00)	5 more per 100 (from 0 to 25 more)	+000 Very Low	Critical
Mortality up t	o end of study at	120 weeks (C20	Mortality up to end of study at 120 weeks (C208 Stage 2: ITT) (deaths reported)	deaths reported	(p							
1'''	randomized trials	no serious risk of bias	no serious inconsistency	serious ¹²	very serious ³	none	9/79 ¹¹ (12.7%)	1/81 ¹¹ (2.5%)	RR 9.23 (1.20 to 72.95) ^{13,14}	10 more per 100 (from 0 more to 53 more)	+000 Very Low	Critical
Time to conve	ersion over 24 we	eks (C208 Stage	Time to conversion over 24 weeks (C208 Stage 2: mITT1) (measured with microbiological en	sured with mic	robiological end	dpoints - MGIT960)	(0					
1^{15}	randomized	no serious rick of biac ⁴	no serious inconsistency	serious ¹⁶	serious ⁵	none	n=66 ¹ median-83	n=66 ¹ median-125		median 42 days lower ¹⁷	++00 I ow	Critical
	subtu	110 VD 10 1011					days	days		10%41	NOT	

The mITT modified intention to treat population in C208 trial consisted of 66 subjects in each randomization group after excluding 13 subjects (16.5%) treated with bedaquiline and 15 subjects (18.5%) with placebo who did not have MDR or pre-XDR-TB at baseline or for whom MGIT results were considered not evaluable.

Cure defined as 5 consecutive negative cultures from samples collected at least 30 days apart in the final 12 months of treatment, OR if only 1 culture is reported positive during that period, then a further 3 consecutive negative cultures from samples taken at least 30 days apart.

End of study data slide supplied by Janssen subsequent to US-FDA meeting. In this slide, mention is made of 'treatment success' but the company further clarified that the strict WHO definition of 'cure' was being used. m

- 4 Representativeness of the mITT population (assumptions made for ITT population).
- Small sample size and resulting large confidence interval limits precision: few (= serious) or very few (= very serious) observations. S
 - 6 This difference is statistically significant (Fisher p=0.005; Pearson p=0.003).

000	guidanci
	policy
on in o too	III I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I
3	86

പ

			Quality assessment	ut			No of patients	atients	9	Effect	Quality	Importance
No of studies Design	Design	Risk of bias	Inconsistency Indirectness	Indirectness	Imprecision	Other considerations	Bedaquiline added to BR	BR alone	Relative (95%CI)	Absolute		
Culture conver	rsion at 24 week	s (C208 Stage 2:	Culture conversion at 24 weeks (C208 Stage 2: mITT1) (assessed with microbiological endpoint - MGIT960)	d with microbio	ological endpoin	it - MGIT960)						
1^{18}	randomized	no serious	no serious	serious ¹⁶	serious ⁵	none	52/66 ¹ (78 802)	38/66 ¹ (57.6%)	RR 1.37 (1.1	21 more per 100 (from 6 more to	++00	Critical
	ci lais	113N 01 0143	IIICOIIBBICIICÀ				(10.0.0)	(0/0.10)	(//10)		FOM	
Acquired resis	tance to fluoroq	uinolones, amin	oglycosides or c	preomycin at 7	2 weeks (C208 S	Acquired resistance to fluoroquinolones, aminoglycosides or capreomycin at 72 weeks (C208 Stage 2: mITT) 20 (assessed with: Microbiological endpoints)	(assessed with:	Microbiological	endpoints)			
1^{21}	randomized	serious ²²	no serious	serious ¹⁶	very serious ⁵	none	$2/10^{20}$	$14/27^{20}$	RR 0.39 (0.11	32 fewer per 100 +000	000+	Critical
	trials		inconsistency				(20%)	(51.9%)	to $1.40)^{23}$	(from 46 fewer to 21 more)	Very Low	
								7/27 (25.9%) ²⁴		6 fewer (22 fewer to 34 more) ²⁴		

Analysis on ITT population, C208 Stages 1 and 2 combined (n=102 in bedaguiline arm, 105 in placebo arm).

See: Janssen, Briefing document to the Anti-Infective Drugs Advisory Committee Meeting, 28 November 2012 (NdA 204–384), (referred to as 'BD'). BD Table 2 Page 14, Table 51, Page 184; and Slide set prepared by Janssen and presented at the US-FDA Anti-Infective Drugs Advisory Committee Meeting, DC, 28 November 2012 (referred to as 'JRd'), JRd Slide 71 – See: http://workspace.who.int/sites/stb/Expert-GroupMeetingBedaquiline/default.asp ~ ∞

Risk of side-effects (e.g. prolonged QT) could be higher if clofazimine were used; concern about follow-up being short in spite of the long half-life of BDQ. δ

See JRd Slide 63. 2

of when deaths occurred (i.e. including deaths post-120 weeks), count 10 deaths in the BDQ and 2 deaths in the Placebo group. Counting deaths at the 120 weeks cut-off point reveal 9 in the 11 See BD Table 45, Appendix 4; Analysis on ITT population, C208 Stage 2 trial only (n=79 in bedaquiline arm, 81 in placebo arm); Mortality amongst all subjects exposed to BDQ in the C208 Phase 2 study, irre-3DQ and 1 in the placebo group.

12 Concern that if, in HIV patients, ARV treatment was given, there might have been drug-drug interactions affecting SAE and mortality.

13 Fisher Exact p=0.017; Pearson p=0.014.

14 The imbalance in deaths is unclear; clinical factors (such as HIV-status or severity of disease) and clinical outcome (disease improved or not) do not seem associated with higher/lower risk for death. 15 See BD Figure 22.

16 Concern re. extrapolating to general population; background treatment regimen was considered sub-optimal and not in line with WHO recommended regimens (PZA plus 4 active second-line drugs). 17 Cox proportional hazards model: HR 2.44 [95%Cl 1.57, 3.80] p<0.0001 (BD p106).

Selected and differential ascertainment of acquired resistance to bedaquiline. Last available positive culture interrogated against baseline for all patients would have been useful; acquired resistance to bedaquiline as seen in non-responders in the bedaquiline arm (using the indicative breakpoint for susceptibility) should also be stated. Fisher Exact p=0.015; Pearson p=0.009.
 Fisher Exact p=0.015; Pearson p=0.009.
 Analysis on paired samples, mITT population (n=10 in bedaquiline arm, 27 in placebo arm).
 See JRd Slide 52;
 Selected and differential ascertainment of acquired resistance to bedaquiline. Last available

23 Fisher Exact p=0.14; Pearson p=0.08. 24 The Expert Group assumed that the true baseline risk for developing resistance would be substantially lower, i.e. approximately 25%, if all samples had been tested at last available positive sample

Table 8. The GRADE Evidence to Recommendation

In MDR-TB patients, does the addition of bedaquiline to a background regimen based on WHO-recommendation safely improve patient outcomes?

Population: MDR TB patients Intervention: bedaquiline + background MDRTB treatment Comparison: background MDRTB treatment alone Setting: global, MDR clinics

	EVIDENCE/EXPLANATION	All critical outcomes measured There were concerns about imprecision (due to small sample size and few events), and indirectness (due to (1) background MDR-TB treatment not being consistent with currently recommended regimens and (2) to the use of a surrogate outcome, i.e. culture conversion). There were also concerns on the risk of bias (due to the inappropriate exclusion of 19 randomized patients with unconfirmed MDR-TB from mITT analysis).	 See evidence profile QoE for benefits: Low due to imprecision and indirectness QoE for harms: Low or very low (resistance to BDQ) due to imprecision and indirectness (and risk of bias) No consensus was found on the balance of respective harms and benefits of addition of bedaquiline to MDRTB treatment. So a vote took place: 10 experts evaluated that the benefits did outweigh the benefits 2 abstained (including the chair)
0		HighModerateLowVery low \Box	Small Modest/ harm/ Large ourden harm/ burden \square \square \square \square \square \square \square \square \square \square \square \square \square \square \square \square \square \square
		Low	Small burden burden C C C C C S S S S S S in death
		Moderate	No effect
		$\begin{array}{c} High & M \\ \hline \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\$	Small benefit
			Large/ Modest benefit
	DETAILS OF JUDGEMENT	Critical Outcomes: 1. Cure by 120 weeks. 2. Serious adverse events by 24 weeks 3. Mortality 4. Time to culture conversion 5. Culture conversion at 24 weeks 6. Acquired resistance to fluoroquinolones and injectable drugs Agree High confidence in the □ typical values	Critical Outcomes:Large/ ModestSmallNoSmallModes $Modest$ benefiteffectharm/ harm/Large $benefit$ $effect$ harm/ harm/Large $benefit$ $Benefit$ $effect$ harm/ harm/Large $benefit$ $Benefit$ $effect$ harm/ harmLarge $benefit$ $Benefit$ $Benefit$ $benefit$ harm/ harm $benefit$ $Benefit$ $Benefit$ $effect$ harm/ harm $benefit$ $Benefit$ $Benefit$ $benefit$ harm/ harm $benefit$ $Benefit$ $Benefit$ $effect$ harm/ harm $benefit$ $Benefit$ $Benefit$ $effect$ harm/ harm $benefit$ $Benefit$ $Benefit$ $effect$ harm/ harmharm $benefit$ $benefitBenefitBenefitBenefitBenefitBenefitBenefitBenefitbenefitBenefitBenefitBenefitBenefitBenefitBenefitBenefitbenefitBenefitBenefitBenefitBenefitBenefitBenefitBenefitbenefitBenefitBenefitBenefitBenefitBenefitBenefitBenefitbenefitBenefit$
	JUDGEMENT	□ High □ Moderate □ Low ⊠ Very low	 □ Benefits outweigh harms/ burden ∞ Benefits slightly outweigh harms/ burden □ Benefits and harms/ burden are balanced □ Harms/ burden slightly outweigh benefits □ Harms/ burden outweigh benefits
	DOMAIN	What is the overall confidence in effect estimates? Is there high or moderate quality evidence? The higher the quality of evidence, the more likely is a strong recommendation	What is the balance between benefits and risks/ burden? Are you confident that the benefits outweigh the harms and burden or vice versa? The larger the difference between the benefits and harms, the more likely is a strong recommendation. The smaller the net benefit or net harm and the lower the certainty for that net effect, the more likely is a conditional/weak recommendation.

ood opin	ninalice
2	5
-	5
ion on ion	

ts and patients patients at an id on e.g. resistance igs may g a new y than and ation for es	across used life es of malysis of serious on	will • on
Treatment success, serious adverse events and mortality were considered important to patients while time to conversion culture conversion and resistance were less so. The likelihood that patients would accept an effective treatment regimen would depend on subgroups of the MDR-TB population – e.g. patients with MDR-TB plus additional resistance to fluoroquinolone and/or injectable drugs may be more likely to accept the risk of taking a new drug with potential increase in mortality than patients suffering from newly diagnosed and proven MDR-TB. There is minimal variation for death, larger variation for other outcomes	There are variations of cost effectiveness across settings based on data and assumptions used in the model – that may not reflect real life situations. In addition, there were a series of limitations in the model being used for analysis of cost-effectiveness (e.g. no accounting of serious adverse events, no accounting for effect on transmission, etc.)	Difficult to assess whether intervention will reduce inequities because of uncertainty on affordability.
cess, serious e considered conversion c e less so. "that patien" "nent regime" "he MDR-TB plune and/or olone and/or ential increa ential increa ing from ne" TB. There is "variation for	iations of cos on data and - that may n addition, the model by the model by eness (e.g. n etc.)	sess whether ties because (
Treatment success, ser- mortality were conside while time to conversi resistance were less so. The likelihood that pai effective treatment reg subgroups of the MDR-T batients with MDR-T batients with potential in batients suffering from proven MDR-TB. The death, larger variation	There are variatio settings based on c in the model – tha situations. In addi limitations in the . of cost-effectivenes of cost-effectivenes adverse events, no transmission, etc.) transmission, etc.)	Difficult to as reduce inequi affordability.
Somewhat Uncertain Somewhat Disagree agree disagree \square \square \boxtimes		
Uncertain S		
omewhat agree		
Agree	rse events	
nces likely	rrious adve	
Values and preferences likely similar	No accounting of serious adverse events	
Values ar similar	No accou	
	Cost is very small relative to the net benefits Cost is small relative to the net benefits Cost is borderline relative to the net benefits Cost is very high relative to the net benefits Cost is very high relative to the net benefits	
	Cost is very small relative to the net benefits Cost is small relative to the net benefits Cost is borderline relative to the net benefits Cost is very high relative to the net benefits Cost is very high relative to the net benefits	
s u u	mall relati relative to elative to t igh relativ	
Similar values Some variation Large variation	st is very s st is small st is borde st is high r st is very h	High Moderate Low Very low Uncertain
		☐ High □ Mode □ Low ⊠ Uncer
What are the patient's values and preferences? Are the assumed or identified relative values similar across the target population? The greater the similarity in values and preferences, the more likely is a strong recommendation.	Is the incremental cost (or resource use) small relative to the benefits? Are the resources worth the expected net benefit from following the recommendation? The lower the cost of an intervention compared to the alternative, and other costs related to the decision – that is, the fewer resources consumed – the more likely is a strong recommendation in favour of that intervention.	ies? ies?
What are the patient's val and preferences? Are the assumed or identi relative values similar acro the target population? The greater the similarity in values and preferences, the more likely is a strong recommendation.	Is the incremental cost (or resource use) small relative to the benefits? Are the resources worth the expected net benefit from following the recommendation? The lower the cost of an intervention compared to the alternative, and other costs related to the decision - that is, the fewer resource consumed – the more likely a strong recommendation in favour of that intervention.	What would be the impact on health inequities?
What a and pre Are the relative the targ The gre- in value the mor recomm	Is the in resourd to the b Are the Are the the exp from fo recomn The low interver the alter consum a strong favour of favour	
AALUES AND PREFERENCES	BESOURCES	EQUITY

In MDR-TB patients, does th	e addition of bedaquiline to a ba	In MDR-TB patients, does the addition of bedaquiline to a background regimen based on WHO-recommendation safely improve patient outcomes?	IO-recommendation safely imp	prove patient outcomes?		
Overall balance of consequences	Undesirable consequences clearly outweigh desirable consequences	Undesirable consequences probably outweigh desirable consequences	The balance between desirable and undesirable consequences is too uncertain*	The balance of desirable and undesirable consequences indicates they are very similar*	Desirable consequences probably outweigh undesirable consequences	Desirable consequences clearly outweigh undesirable consequences
	We recommend against the option or for the alternative	We suggest not to use the option or to use the alternative	No recommendation		We suggest using the option	We recommend the option
Panel decisions	There was no consensus amor harms did outweigh the benef	There was no consensus among the panel as per the 'balance of har harms did outweigh the benefits and 2 (including chair) abstained	f harms and benefits', hence a ined	There was no consensus among the panel as per the 'balance of harms and benefits', hence a vote: 10 experts evaluated that the benefits did outweigh the harms, 4 experts evaluated that the harms did outweigh the benefits and 2 (including chair) abstained	he benefits did outweigh the harr	ms, 4 experts evaluated that the
Recommendation	The Expert Group Panel suggests that bea very low confidence in estimates of effect)	ests that bedaquiline may be add tes of effect)	led to a WHO recommended r	The Expert Group Panel suggests that bedaquiline may be added to a WHO recommended regimen in MDR-TB adult patients under the following conditions (conditional recommendation, very low confidence in estimates of effect)	ts under the following condition.	s (conditional recommendation
Remarks and justifications	Conditions:					
	 When an effective treat When there is documes A duly informed decisi 	When an effective treatment regimen containing 4 recommended second line drugs in additic When there is documented evidence of resistance to any fluoroquinolone in addition to MDR A duly informed decision making-process by patients should be followed;	ommended second line drugs ny fluoroquinolone in additior should be followed;	When an effective treatment regimen containing 4 recommended second line drugs in addition to pyrazinamide, according to WHO-recommendations cannot be designed When there is documented evidence of resistance to any fluoroquinolone in addition to MDR A duly informed decision making-process by patients should be followed;	cording to WHO-recommenda	ations cannot be designed
	Bedaquiline should be used v to limited or no information.	used with caution in persons liv ation.	ring with HIV infection, as we	Bedaquiline should be used with caution in persons living with HIV infection, as well as in patients with co-morbidities (such as diabetes) or persons with drug or alcohol use, due to limited or no information.	lities (such as diabetes) or perso	ons with drug or alcohol use, d
	 Bedaquiline should be u remaining 22 weeks) 	used for a maximum duration o	of 6 months and at suggested d	Bedaquiline should be used for a maximum duration of 6 months and at suggested dosing (400 mg daily for the first 2 weeks, followed by 200 mg three times per week for the remaining 22 weeks)	t 2 weeks, followed by 200 mg tl	hree times per week for the
	Bedaquiline must not b	Bedaquiline must not be added alone to a failing regimen;	len;			
	Baseline testing and moClinical monitoring and	Baseline testing and monitoring for QT prolongation and development of arrhythmia is imperative Clinical monitoring and management of co-morbidities (especially cardiac and liver disease) should be in place	und development of arrhythmi s (especially cardiac and liver	ia is imperative disease) should be in place		
	 Spontaneous reporting In the absence of a spec 	Spontaneous reporting of adverse drug reactions is reinforced at country level and active phone in the absence of a specific bedaquiline DST assay, resistance to bedaquiline should be mone of the standard structure of the standard structure of the structure of	nforced at country level and a stance to bedaquiline should t	Spontaneous reporting of adverse drug reactions is reinforced at country level and active pharmacovigilance is established among patient groups treated with the drug. ²⁹ In the absence of a specific bedaquiline DST assay, resistance to bedaquiline should be monitored through assessment of Minimum Inhibitory Concentrations (MICs)	olished among patient groups tr nt of Minimum Inhibitory Con	ceated with the drug; ²⁹ centrations (MICs)

29 For more details see : A practical handbook on the pharmacovigilance of medicines used in the treatment of tuberculosis: enhancing the safety of the TB patient. Geneva, World Health Organization, 2012. Available from: http://www.who.int/medicines/publications/pharmacovigilance_tb/

In MDD TR cations for th	a addition of hadronulling to a hadronund sociation hard an WLD secondation orbits intervent rational outcomes
IN INDA-1D putterns, aves th	In MERT Departures areas the autoinon of occurations to a packground regimen based on WID-recommendation sujet improve patient outcomes:
Explanation	The expert group judged that the impact on culture conversion was large enough to outweigh the harms for most patients
Implementation and	Monitor resistance to bedaquiline through assessment of MIC in the absence of a specific bedaquiline DST assay
feasibility	Monitor resistance to other anti-TB drugs
	Management of co-morbidities (cardiac diseases, etc.)
	Clinical monitoring
	Concerns on scale-up due to costs and/or local regulatory constraints
Research gaps	Phase 3 clinical trial(s) of safety and efficacy of bedaquiline, with particular attention to mortality (including causes of death), in the treatment of MDR-TB should be accelerated
	Development of a reliable test for bedaquiline resistance
	Pharmacokinetics, safety and efficacy studies in specific populations (paediatrics, HIV patients, alcohol and drug users, elderly, pregnant women, extrapulmonary TB, persons with
	diabetes)
	Safety studies, including type; frequency and severity of adverse events (short term and long term)
	Drug-drug interactions, including with other existing and newly developed TB drugs and ARVs
	Mortality (including cause of death)
	Acquisition of resistance to bedaquiline and to other TB drugs
	Duration and dosing of treatment
	Patient acceptability
	Further research on the validity of culture conversion as a surrogate marker of treatment outcome
Revision planned	• By 2015 or earlier if substantial data become available increasing the knowledge on safety, toxicity and efficacy (e.g. post marketing studies, on-going trials and studies)

* In this situation no recommendation could be reasonable



- Annex 1: WHO Guideline Steering Group members
- **Annex 2: Expert Group members**
- Annex 3: Expert Group meeting objectives and agenda
- **Annex 4: Declarations of Interest**
- Annex 5: Glossary of GRADE terms
- Annex 6: External Review Panel members



WHO Guideline Steering Group members

Stop TB Department (STB)

Dennis Falzon Katherine Floyd Haileyesus Getahun Malgosia Grzemska Ernesto Jaramillo Christian Lienhardt Mario Raviglione Fraser Wares Diana Weil Karin Weyer

Annex 2

Expert Group members

Chair:

Dr Holger Schünemann

Chair, Department of Clinical Epidemiology & Biostatistics McMaster University 1280 Main St W., HSC 2C16 L8S 4K1 – Hamilton, ON Canada

Members:

Dr Elie Akl

Associate Professor of Medicine and Director, Unit of Clinical Epidemiology Department of Internal Medicine American University of Beirut Medical Center P.O. Box: 11-0236 Riad-El-Solh Beirut 1107 2020 Lebanon

Dr Adekunle Victor Babawale

National TB, Leprosy & Buruli Ulcer Control Programme, Akwa Ibom House Plot 540, Constitution Avenue Central Bussiness District, 900211 Federal Capital Territory-Abuja Nigeria

Dr Mauricio L. Barreto

Professor in Public Health Epidemiology Instituto de Saude Coletiva Universidade Federal da Bahia Rua Basílio da Gama s/n – Canela 40110-040 Salvador Bahia Brazil

Dr Martien W. Borgdorff

Head Professor of Epidemiology Public Health Service Amsterdam Department of Infectious Diseases Nieuwe Achtergracht 100 1018 WT Amsterdam The Netherlands

Dr Erlina Burhan

Department of Pulmonology and Respiratory Medicine Faculty of Medicine, University of Indonesia Persahabatan Hospital Jl. Persahabatan Raya No.1, Rawamangun Jakarta 13230 Indonesia

Dr Richard E. Chaisson

Professor of Medicine, Epidemiology and International Health Center for Tuberculosis Research Johns Hopkins University 1503 E. Jefferson Street 21231-1003 – Baltimore, Maryland USA

Ms Lucy Chesire

Executive Director TB Advocacy Ambassador Court, Block A5 P.O. BOX 50358 – 00100 Nairobi Kenya

Ms Erica Lessem

Assistant Director, TB/HIV Project Treatment Action Group 261 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2110 New York, NY 10016 USA

Dr Norbert Ndjeka

Director Drug-Resistant TB, TB & HIV National TB Control & Management Cluster Office N709, North Tower Civitas Building Corner Andries & Struben Streets Pretoria South Africa

Dr Viet Nhung Nguyen

Vice Director of National Lung Hospital Standing Deputy Manager of Vietnam NTP Standing Vice Chair, Stop TB Partnership Vice President, VATLD GLC member WHO / WPRO 463 Hoang Hoa Tham, Ba Dinh Hanoi Viet Nam

Dr Michael L. Rich

Partners in Health Harvard Medical School 641 Huntington Avenue Boston USA

Dr Simon Schaaf

Department of Paediatrics and Child Health Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences Cape Town South Africa

Dr Susan van den Hof

Senior epidemiologist KNCV Tuberculosis Foundation PO Box 146, 2501 CC The Hague Parkstraat 17, 2514 JD The Hague The Netherlands

Dr Francis Varaine

Médecins sans Frontières – France 8 rue St Sabin 75444 Paris Cedex 11 France

Dr Andrew A. Vernon

Chief Clinical and Health Systems Research Branch DTBE/NCHHSTP Centers for Disease Control and Prevention MS E-10 1600 Clifton Rd NE 30333 – Atlanta, GA USA

Dr Piret Viiklepp

Head of Estonian Tuberculosis Registry Co-coordinator of National TB Program National Institute for Health Development Hiiu 42 Tallinn, 11619 Estonia

Observers

Dr Xiumin Huo

Chief Pharmacist Office of Pharmacy Evaluation I Center for Drug Evaluation State Food and Drug Administration Beijing China

Dr Ya Diul Mukadi

Global Health Bureau United States Agency for International Development (USAID) 1300 Pennsylvania Ave NW Office 5.7–40 Washington D.C. 20523 USA

Technical Resource Consultants

Dr Bernard Fourie

Extraordinary Professor Medical Microbiology University of Pretoria PO Box 749, La Montagne Pretoria South Africa, 0184

Dr Ekaterina Kurbatova – participated

through video conference Senior Service Fellow MDR-Team, International Research and Programs Branch Division of TB Elimination/NCHHSTP U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) Mailstop E-10 1600 Clifton Road, NE Atlanta, Georgia, 30333 USA

Dr Charles Peloquin - participated

through video conference Director Infectious Disease Pharmacokinetics Laboratory College of Pharmacy, and Emerging Pathogens Institute University of Florida 1600 SW Archer Rd., Rm P4–33 Gainesville, FL 32610–0486 USA

Dr Anna Vassall – *participated through video conference* London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine Keppel Street London WC1E 7HT United Kingdom

WHO/HQ

STB Secretariat

Dennis Falzon Haileyesus Getahun Malgosia Grzemska Ernesto Jaramillo Christian Lienhardt Mario Raviglione Fraser Wares Diana Weil Karin Weyer

Joël Keravec, WHO/TBP/GDF

Lisa Hedman, WHO/EMP Kris Weerasuriya, WHO/EMP

Piero Olliaro, WHO/TDR

Brenda Waning, UNITAID

GRC (observers) Charles Penn, WHO/AIP Susan Norris

Annex 3

Expert Group meeting on interim advice for the use of bedaquiline in the treatment of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis

29–30 January 2013, Geneva Meeting objectives and agenda

Background:

The emergence of drug-resistant tuberculosis is a major threat to global tuberculosis care and control. The World Health Organization (WHO) estimates that about 310 000 multidrug-resistant tuberculosis (MDR-TB) cases (i.e. resistant to rifampicin and isoniazid) occurred among notified TB patients in 2011. Of these, only 19% were reported to WHO, largely as a result of critical gaps in diagnostic and treatment capacity in most countries. Furthermore, 85 countries have now reported at least one case of extensively drug-resistant tuberculosis (XDR-TB), a form of TB that is resistant to at least four of the core anti-TB drugs, and associated with high lethality among people living with HIV.³⁰

The global deployment of new, rapid diagnostics for drug resistance, such as the Xpert MTB/RIF assay, is expected to increase the demand for treatment of MDR-TB patients. Current treatment regimens for drug-resistant TB are far from satisfactory. Whereas most drug-susceptible TB patients can usually be treated successfully with a 6-month course of treatment, in most MDR-TB cases a treatment duration of 20 months or more is used, requiring the daily administration of archaic drugs that are more toxic and less effective than those used to treat drug-susceptible TB. Among MDR-TB patients started on treatment globally in 2009, only 48% were treated successfully, as a result of high frequency of death (15%) and loss to follow-up commonly associated with adverse drug reactions (28%). Among a subset of 200 (XDR-TB) patients in 14 countries, treatment success only reached 33% overall and 26% of cases died.³¹

The landscape of TB drug development has evolved dramatically over the past ten years, and novel drugs are presently or soon entering Phase III trials for the treatment of MDR-TB. WHO intends to convene an Expert Group (EG) to review the available evidence on the efficacy, safety and effectiveness of a new drug, bedaquiline, for the treatment of MDR-TB, and recommend whether WHO guidance on the treatment of MDR-TB should be supplemented with interim guidance on the use of this drug. Of

³⁰ *Global tuberculosis control: WHO report 2010* (WHO/HTM/TB/2010.7). Geneva, World Health Organization. 2010.

³¹ *Global tuberculosis control: WHO report 2010* (WHO/HTM/TB/2010.7). Geneva, World Health Organization. 2010.

note, dossiers have been submitted to several regulatory authorities and are currently being evaluated under procedures of 'accelerated' or 'conditional' approval.

Overall objective:

The EG will evaluate the added benefit of bedaquiline, a new agent developed for the treatment of MDR-TB, a life-threatening form of TB, and provide recommendations to WHO for provision of interim guidance to countries on its use in conjunction with other second-line drugs used in MDR-TB treatment if appropriate.

Specific objectives:

- 1. To evaluate the harms/benefits of bedaquiline in combination with currently recommended MDR-TB drugs according to the following criteria:
 - 1.1 For efficacy, through the evaluation of the performance of the new drug versus placebo in addition to optimised background therapy, using the surrogate markers of 'culture conversion at 6 months' and 'time to culture conversion' and other outcomes as suitable.
 - 1.2 For safety, through the evaluation of the type, frequency and severity of adverse reactions related to the new drug and mortality.
 - 1.3 For affordability, including through the estimated cost and cost-effectiveness of MDR-TB treatment with the new drug based on modelling studies.
- 2. Based on this evaluation, to provide, as appropriate, provisional guidance on the use of the drug as part of WHO-recommended MDR-TB treatment regimens, including attention to all concerns relevant to the use of a new drug for which Phase III clinical trial data are not yet available. This will include describing the additional data to collect and minimum parameter to put in place when new regimens are being used in programmes.

The *interim advice* will aim at reaching policy-makers, national TB programmes, health workers, academics, donors and technical partners.

Expected outcomes

- Draft a recommendation based on the quality of the evidence, health impact, feasibility, cost-effectiveness, patients values, as well judgments about trade-offs between benefits and harms, including the description of parameters to be put in place at programme level to monitor and evaluate the introduction and use of the drug within recommended MDR-TB regimens;
- 2. Identify further needs in terms of data and future research during the interim period until final phase III data become available.

	DAY 1 – 29th January 2012	Chair: Holger Schünemann
9h00 – 9h15	Welcome and Introduction	Mario Raviglione
9h15 - 9h45	Objectives of the meeting Presentation of participants Declaration of Interest statements	Christian Lienhardt
	Session 1: Background and procedures	
9h45 – 10h00	WHO requirements for evidence-based guidelines	Mary Lyn Gaffield
10h00 - 10h30	GRADE approach for WHO guidelines	Holger Schünemann
10h30 – 10h45	Review of MDR-TB treatment guidelines	Dennis Falzon
10h45 – 11h00	The PICO question for provisional guidance on use of bedaquiline in the treatment of MDR-TB	Holger Schünemann
11h00 – 11h30	Coffee break	
	Session 2: Review of available data on bedaquiline	
11h30 -11h50	Review of pre-clinical, toxicology and pharmacokinetic data	Bernard Fourie
11h50 – 12h30	Discussion	All
12h30 –13h30	Lunch	
13h30 - 14h15	Review of key efficacy and safety results	Bernard Fourie
	Session 3: The efficacy aspects	
14h15 – 14h30	Culture conversion as proxy of treatment outcome	Katya Kurbatova (remotely)
14h30 - 15h45	Discussion	Discussant (Andrew Vernon) All
15h45 - 16h15	Tea break	
	Session 4: The safety and mortality aspects	
16h15 – 17h30	Discussion	Discussant (Michael Rich) All
17h30 – 18h00	Re-cap and key points	Holger Schünemann
18h00	End Day 1	

	DAY 2 – 30th January 2012	Chair: Holger Schünemann
	Session 5: The cost-effectiveness aspects	
8h00 - 8h20	Presentation of CE modelling analysis	Anna Vassall (remotely)
8h20 - 9h00	Discussion	All
	Session 6: Interim recommendations for use of bedaquiline in MDR-TB treatment	All
9h00 – 10h15	Establish draft recommendations based on quality of the evidence, balance between desirable and undesirable effects, resources, feasibility, values and preferences.	All
10h15 – 10h45	Coffee break	
	Session 6: Interim recommendations for use of bedaquiline in MDR-TB treatment (contd)	All
10h45 - 12h30	Establish draft recommendations based on quality of the evidence, balance between desirable and undesirable effects, resources, feasibility, values and preferences.	All
12h30 -13h30	Lunch	
	Session 6: Interim recommendations for use of bedaquiline (contd)	All
13h30 – 15h30	Review recommendations as a whole (contd), including conditions associated with potential recommendations. Complete decision grid and determine the strength of recommendation.	
15h30 – 16h00	Tea break	
16h00 – 16h30	Recommendation for further data and future research, including on various populations (PLHIV, children)	All
16h30 - 17h30	Re-cap and review of final recommendations	All
17h30 – 18h00	Next steps, implementation and conclusion	Karin Weyer/Diana Weil/Mario Raviglione
18h00	Adjourn	



Expert Group meeting on interim advice for the use of bedaquiline in the treatment of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis

Declarations of Interest

Expert Group meeting treatment of MDR-TB	on interim advice for	the use of bedaquiline in the
None declared		
Elie Akl	Richard E. Chaisson	Michael L. Rich
Adekunle Victor Babawele	Ms Lucy Chesire	Simon Schaaf
Mauricio Baretto	Norbert Ndjeka	Holger Schünemann
Dr Martien W. Borgdorff	Nguyen Viet Nhung	Francis Varaine
Erlina Burhan		Susan Van Den Hof
		Piret Viiklepp
1		World Health Organization

Declarations of Interest

 Expert Group meeting on interim advice for the use of bedaquiline in the treatment of MDR-TB

 Declared: insignificant

 Andrew Vernon
 Supervises a branch at CDC that supports a consortium conducting clinical trials in TB that receives modest support (e.g., drug supplies for studies) from several manufacturers. One company, Sanofi-Aventis, has provided \$1.7 million to the CDC Foundation to support work on rifapentine. Neither I nor any of my staff has received any personal benefit from these funds.

Declarations of Interest

Expert Group meeting treatment of MDR-TE	ng on interim advice for the use of bedaquiline in the
Declared: insignificant	
Erica Lessem	 TAG'S TB/HIV Project receives funding from the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation to conduct advocacy to accelerate research and development into new tools to fight TB and TB/HIV coinfection, and to promote universal access to effective tools and services. Activities supported by this funding include TB/HIV Project team operations, participation in meetings with key researchers and policymakers, attendance to scientific conferences, writing publications such as the Pipeline Report which provides an overview of all new drugs, diagnostics and vaccines in the pipeline for TB and other diseases, and coordinating a global TB community advisory board which provides input in the development and roll-out of tools to fight TB. In addition, TAG's Hepatitis C program received from Janssen Therapeutics/Tibotec Therapeutics \$10,000/year in 2011 and 2012 (not for any of my word or the TB/HIV project)
3	World Health Organization

Declarations of Interest

 Expert Group meeting on interim advice for the use of bedaquiline in the treatment of MDR-TB

 Technical Resource Persons – None declared

 Bernard Fourie
 Charles Peloquin

 Ekaterina Kurbatova
 Anna Vassall

4



Declarations of Interest

Expert Group meeting on interim advice for the use of bedaquiline in the treatment of MDR-TB	
Observers	
Xiumin Huo	Chief Pharmacist, State Food and Drug Administration, Beijing, China
Mukadi Ya-Diul	Works for a funding organization supporting drug research and development
5	World Health Organization

Annex 5

GRADE glossary

Absolute effect

The absolute measure of intervention effects is the difference between the baseline risk of an outcome (for example, in patients receiving control interventions or estimated in the observational studies) and the risk of outcome after the intervention is applied; that is, the risk of an outcome in people who were exposed to or received an intervention. Absolute effect is based on the relative magnitude of an effect and baseline risk.

Bias

A systematic error or deviation in results or inferences from the truth. In studies of the effects of health care, the main types of bias arise from systematic differences in the groups that are compared (selection bias), the care that is provided, exposure to other factors apart from the intervention of interest (performance bias), withdrawals or exclusions of people entered into a study (attrition bias) or how outcomes are assessed (detection bias). Systematic reviews of studies may also be particularly affected by reporting bias, where a biased subset of all the relevant data is available.

Critical outcome

An outcome that has been assessed as 7–9 on a scale of 1–9 for the importance of the outcome when making decisions about the optimal management strategy.

Dose response gradient

The relationship between the quantity of treatment given and its effect on outcome. This factor may increase confidence in the results.

Evidence profile

A table summarizing the quality of the available evidence, the judgements that bear on the quality rating and the effects of alternative management strategies on the outcomes of interest. It includes an explicit judgement of each factor determining the quality of evidence for each outcome. It should be used by guideline panels to ensure that they agree about the judgements underlying the quality assessments and to establish the judgements.

High quality evidence

We are very confident that the true effect lies close to that of the estimate of the effect.

Important outcome

An outcome that has been assessed as 4-6 on a scale of 1-9 for the importance of the outcome when making decisions about the optimal management strategy. It is important but not critical.

Imprecision

Refers to whether the results are precise enough. When assessing imprecision, guideline panels need to consider the context of a recommendation and other outcomes, whereas authors of systematic reviews need only to consider the imprecision for a specific outcome. Authors should consider width of confidence intervals, number of patients (optimal information size) and number of events.

Inconsistency

Refers to widely differing estimates of the treatment effect (that is, heterogeneity or variability in results) across studies that suggest true differences in underlying treatment effect. When the magnitude of intervention effects differs, explanations may lie in the patients (e.g. disease severity), the interventions (e.g. doses, co-interventions, comparison interventions), the outcomes (e.g. duration of follow-up) or the study methods (e.g. randomized trials with higher and lower quality risk of bias).

Indirectness

Refers to whether the evidence directly answers the health-care question. Indirectness may occur when we have no direct or head-to-head comparisons between two or more interventions of interest; it may occur also when the question being addressed by the guideline panel or by the authors of a systematic review is different from the available evidence regarding the population, intervention, comparator or an outcome.

Low quality evidence

Our confidence in the effect estimate is limited: The true effect may be substantially different from the estimate of the effect

Moderate quality evidence

We are moderately confident in the effect estimate: The true effect is likely to be close to the estimate of the effect, but there is a possibility that it is substantially different.

Quality of evidence

Refers to a body of evidence not to individual studies (that is, means more than risk of bias of studies). It includes consideration of risk of bias, imprecision, inconsistency, indirectness and publication bias, as well as the magnitude of treatment effect and the presence of a dose– response gradient. In the context of a systematic review, the ratings of the quality of evidence reflect the extent of our confidence that the estimates of the effect are correct. In the context of making recommendations, the quality ratings reflect the extent of our confidence to support a particular decision or recommendation.

Randomized controlled trial

An experimental study in which two or more interventions are compared by being randomly allocated to participants. In most trials, one intervention is assigned to each individual but sometimes assignment is to defined groups of individuals (for example, in a household) or interventions are assigned within individuals (for example, in different orders or to different parts of the body).

Relative effect

The relative effect for a dichotomous outcome from a single study or a meta-analysis will typically be a risk ratio (relative risk), odds ratio or, occasionally, a hazard ratio.

Strength of a recommendation

The degree of confidence that the desirable effects of adherence to a recommendation outweigh the undesirable effects. Either strong or weak/conditional.

Strong recommendation

Most patients would want the recommended course of action, and only a small proportion would not; therefore, clinicians should provide the intervention. The recommendation can be adapted as policy in most situations.

Study limitations (risk of bias)

The risk of misleading results is a result of flawed design or conduct of randomized or observational studies. It is one of the five categories of reasons for downgrading the quality of evidence. It includes lack of allocation concealment; lack of blinding; incomplete accounting of patients and outcomes events; selective outcome reporting bias; and other limitations, such as stopping early for benefit, use of non- validated outcome measures, carryover effects in crossover trials, and recruitment bias in clusterrandomized trials.

Surrogate outcome

Outcome measure that is not of direct practical importance but is believed to reflect an outcome that is important; for example, blood pressure is not directly important to patients but it is often used as an outcome in clinical trials because it is a risk factor for stroke and heart attacks. Surrogate outcomes are often physiological or biochemical markers that can be relatively quickly and easily measured, and that are taken as being predictive of important clinical outcomes. They are often used when observation of clinical outcomes requires long follow-up. Also called: intermediary outcomes or surrogate end-points.

Very low quality evidence

We have very little confidence in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely to be substantially different from the estimate of effect.

Weak/conditional recommendation

The majority of patients would want the suggested course of action, but many would not. Clinicians should recognize that different choices will be appropriate for individual patients, and that they must help each patient arrive at a management decision consistent with his or her values and preferences. Policy-making will require substantial debate and involvement of various stakeholders.

Annex 6

List of External Review Panel members

(area of expertise in brackets)

Jose A. Caminero, University General Hospital of Gran Canaria, Las Palmas, Spain and MDR-TB Unit Coordinator, The UNION, Paris, France – (Clinical practice, representative from gGLC).

Gavin Churchyard, Chief Executive Officer, Aurum Institute for Health Research, Johannesburg, South Africa – (STAG-TB member, clinical practice, TB, TB/HIV, research, drug and vaccine development).

Anna Marie Celina Garfin, Department of Health – National Center for Disease Prevention and Control, Philippines – (Programme management, end-user).

Giovanni Battista Migliori, Director, WHO Collaborating Centre for TB and Lung Diseases Fondazione S. Maugeri, Care and Research Institute, Tradate, Italy – (STAG-TB member, pulmonologist/ MDR-/XDR-TB expert and TB technical adviser).

Ashok Kumar, Deputy Director General, Head Central TB Division & Project Director RNTCP, Directorate General Of Health Services, Ministry of Health and Family Welfare, New Delhi, India – (Programme management, end-user).

Helen McIlleron, Division of Clinical Pharmacology, Department of Medicine, University of Cape Town – (Clinical pharmacologist).

Richard Menzies, Director Respiratory Division, MUHC and McGill University, Montreal, Canada – (Epidemiologic and clinical research in TB).

Rohit Sarin, Director, LRS Institute of Tuberculosis and Respiratory Diseases, New Delhi, India and Chairman – (Clinical consultant in TB and Respiratory Diseases, member of rGLC SEAR, end-user).

Alena Skrahina, Scientific Director, Republican Research and Practical Centre for Pulmonology and TB, Minsk, Belarus – (Clinical management and research, TB, M/XDR-TB, HIV/TB, end-user).

Maarten van Cleeff, KNCV Tuberculosis Foundation, The Hague, The Netherlands – (TB, TB/HIV, poverty and ethics, diagnosis, health system strengthening, operational research, monitoring and programme evaluation).



ISBN 978 92 4 150548 2

